Acta Biomaterialia 67 (2018) 1-20

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Acta Biomaterialia

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/actabiomat

# Review article Clinically advancing and promising polymer-based therapeutics

# Whitney N. Souery, Corey J. Bishop\*

Department of Biomedical Engineering, Texas A&M University, Emerging Technologies Building, 101 Bizzell St., College Station, TX 77843, USA

# ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 September 2017 Received in revised form 11 November 2017 Accepted 27 November 2017 Available online 13 December 2017

Keywords: Polymeric drug delivery Controlled release Nanomedicine Anti-cancer Therapeutics

# ABSTRACT

In this review article, we will examine the history of polymers and their evolution from provisional World War II materials to medical therapeutics. To provide a comprehensive look at the current state of polymer-based therapeutics, we will classify technologies according to targeted areas of interest, including central nervous system-based and intraocular-, gastrointestinal-, cardiovascular-, dermal-, reproductive-, skeletal-, and neoplastic-based systems. Within each of these areas, we will consider several examples of novel, clinically available polymer-based therapeutics; in addition, this review will also include a discussion of developing therapies, ranging from the *in vivo* to clinical trial stage, for each targeted area of treatment. Finally, we will emphasize areas of patient care in need of more effective, accessible, and targeted treatment approaches where polymer-based therapeutics may offer potential solutions.

© 2017 Acta Materialia Inc. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Central Nervous System-Based Therapeutics	3
	2.1. Future Trends of Central Nervous System-Based Therapeutics	ł
3.	Intraocular-Based Therapeutics	;
	3.1. Future Trends of Intraocular Therapeutics	5
4.	Gastrointestinal-Based Therapeutics	5
	4.1. Future Directions of Gastrointestinal-Based Therapeutics	1
	4.1.1. Non-Oral Delivery	1
	4.1.2. Oral Delivery	1
5.	Cardiovascular-Based Therapeutics	3
	5.1. Future Direction of Cardiovascular-Based Therapeutics	)
6.	Dermal-Based Therapeutics	)
	6.1. Future Direction of Dermal-Based Therapeutics	)
7.	Reproductive-Based Therapeutics	l
	7.1. Future Direction of Reproductive-Based Therapeutics	l
8.	Skeletal System-Based Therapeutics	2
	8.1. Future Direction of Skeletal System-Based Therapeutics	3
9.	Neoplasm-Based Therapeutics	3
	9.1. Future Directions of Neoplasm-Based Therapeutics	ł
10.	Conclusion	;
	Acronyms	ć
	References	;

\* Corresponding author. *E-mail address:* coreyjbishop@tamu.edu (C.J. Bishop).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.11.044 1742-7061/© 2017 Acta Materialia Inc. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.







# 1. Introduction

In less than a century, the medical device industry has been transformed by the discoveries and developments of polymerbased therapeutics. In order to understand the current and future directions of polymer-based therapeutics, it is necessary to first consider the historical context and background of the industry. The advent of polymers in medicine would likely not have occurred without two historical events: (1) World War II, which established a pressing need for biocompatible medical devices and therapeutics for thousands of injured soldiers, and (2) the surge of the chemical industry in the middle of the nineteenth century, which fueled the quest for biomaterials by providing a repertoire of materials to choose from [1,2].

During World War II, almost 15,000 service personnel returned home to the U.S. as amputees, nearly quadruple the number of amputee U.S. soldiers from World War I [3]. This sudden inundation of amputees was coupled with the advent of synthetic polymers, such as nylon, poly(vinyl chloride), polyethylene terephthalate, poly(urethanes), and poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) (Plexiglas<sup>®</sup>), owing to the extensive growth and investment in the chemical industry to support the war effort [4–9]. These materials were not applied to the realm of biomaterials, however, until Dr. Harold Ridley, a British ophthalmologist, first

#### Table 1

Milestones for the field of polymer-based therapeutics and highlights of U.S. regulations of drug products.

- U.S. Pharmacopeia is established [22] 1820
- 1862 President Lincoln appoints Dr. Charles M. Wetherill to serve in the Agricultural Department [22]
- Polyvinyl chloride (PVC) is invented by Dr. Eugene Baumann [6] 1872
- 1902 The Biologics Control Act is established [22]
- 1906 The U.S. FDA is created under President Roosevelt [22]
- 1908
- Cellophane® is invented by Mr. Jacques Brandenberger [6] 1909
- Bakelite, the first fully synthetic plastic product, is invented by Dr. Leo Baekeland [6]
- 1934 Dr. Willem J. Kolff invents the first artificial kidney using cellophane [13]
- 1936 PMMA is invented [6]
- 1937 The Elixir of Sulfanilamide establishes the need for drug safety after causing 107 deaths [22]
- 1938 Teflon<sup>™</sup> is invented by Dr. Roy Plunkett [6]
- 1938 The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act is passed by Congress and signed into law [22]
- 1938 Dr. Belding H. Scribner develops the Scribner Shunt using Teflon<sup>™</sup> [14]
- 1944 The Public Health Service Act was passed to help regulate biological products [22]
- 1945 Captain H. Bloom uses cellophane as a wound treatment for POWs during WWII (Lancet) [16]
- 1948 Modern gas permeable contact lenses are invented by Kevin Touhy using PMMA [23]
- 1948 Dr. William H. Sewell creates the first artificial heart using a glass pumping chamber and rubber bladder [24]
- 1949 Dr. Harold Ridley uses PMMA to develop the first plastic IOL [12]
- 1949 The U.S. FDA first publishes guidance to industry regarding toxicity of chemicals in food ("black book") [22]
- 1952 Dr. Charles Hufnagel invents the first successful long-term prosthetic heart valve using Plexiglas<sup>™</sup> [25]
- 1955 The Division of Biologics Control separates from the NIH after a polio vaccine was improperly inactivated [22]
- 1956 DuPont patents poly(ethylene-co-vinyl acetate)
- 1958 The first list of substances ( $\sim$ 200) generally recognized as safe (GRAS) is established [22]
- 1960 The Starr-Edwards Heart Valve is implanted in the first human patient [25]
- 1960 The first thermoplastic IUD, Perma-Spiral/Gynecoil<sup>®</sup>, is introduced by Ortho Pharmaceuticals [26]
- 1961 Dr. Jack Lippes develops the trapezoidal-shaped Lippes Loop IUD [26]
- 1962 Thalidomide tragedy lead to greater drug regulation support and the Kefauver-Harris Drug Amendment, requiring proof of effectiveness before marketing; in 1966, 4,000 drugs were re-evaluated which were previously approved based on safety alone from 1938 to 1962 [22]
- 1965 Dr. Marshall Urist discovers BMP, revolutionizing methods of bone repair [27]
- 1967 Davis & Geck, Cyanamid Co. patents poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) [28]
- 1968 Dr. Alex Zaffaroni founds ALZA [17]
- Dr. Charles Sparks pioneers the Sparks' mandril graft method for revascularization [29] 1968
- Late 1960's: Dr. Frank Davis introduces the concept of PEGylation [17]
- 1974 Vicryl<sup>®</sup>, the first PLGA suture product, is developed by Ethicon [28]
- 1975 Dr. James Reinwald and Dr. Howard Green demonstrate human keratinocytes can be grown in vitro [30]
- 1976 The Medical Device Amendment is passed [22]
- 1976 Drs. Robert Langer and Judah Folkman demonstrate polymers can deliver proteins and macromolec. (Nature) [17]
- 1977 Bioresearch Monitoring Program: ensures data integrity and human subject protection in clinical trials [22]
- 1978 PEEK is invented by Imperial Chemical Industries [31]
- 1979 Belmont Report: Ethical Principles and Guidelines for the Protection of Human Subjects of Research is published [22]
- 1984 Dr. Hiroshi Maeda discovers the EPR effect [17]
- 1984 The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act is established to 1) approve applications of generic drugs without repeating research to excessive extents and 2) allow companies to make up lost time of patent protection while going through the U.S. FDA approval process [22]
- 1986 DebioPharma launches the first clinically-approved, injectable PLGA microparticles (Decapeptyl<sup>®</sup>) [17]
- 1990 The Safe Medical Devices Act is passed to require reports of incidents related to medical devices and to require manufacturers to conduct post-market surveillance for specific permanently implanted devices [22]
- Doxil®, the first liposomal-based drug, is approved by the U.S. FDA [32] 1995
- 2000 Mirena<sup>®</sup>, the first LNG IUS, is approved by the U.S. FDA [33]
- NuvaRing® becomes the first monthly contraceptive ring to be approved by the U.S. FDA [34] 2001
- 2002 Medical Device User Fee and Modernization Act: enables the U.S. FDA to meet performance goals [22]
- 2002 The current good manufacturing practice (cGMP) initiative is established [22]
- 2002 The Office of Combination Products is formed to oversee products that spread across jurisdiction lines [22]
- 2005 Retisert® is the first approved intravitreal drug implant for treating chronic, noninfectious posterior uveitis [35]
- 2007 Integra® Flowable Wound Matrix: U.S. FDA approved flowable collagen matrix for treating tunneled lesions [36]
- 2014 Iluvien<sup>®</sup>: U.S. FDA approval for the first DME treatment to provide up to three years of continuous treatment [37]
- 2016 Epicel<sup>®</sup> is granted HDE status by the U.S. FDA, making it the first and only commercially available CEA [38]
- 2016 The AMPLATZER® PFO Occluder becomes the first PFO closure device with U.S. FDA approval [39]
- 2016 MACI®: first U.S. FDA-approved cellularized scaffold for symptomatic, full-thickness cartilage defects [40]

observed that PMMA aircraft fragments embedded inside pilots were generally well-tolerated by the body and did not induce adverse bodily reactions [1,10]. In 1949, following this realization. Dr. Ridley adapted PMMA for use in the first plastic intraocular lens, which remains one of the standard materials used in lenses today, in addition to other silicone, acrylic-, and collagen-based materials (i.e. Collamer®) (Table 1) [11]. Opthamology was not the only area to benefit from these early polymers; in 1943, Dr. Willem J. Kolff developed the first artificial kidney using cellophane, a semi-permeable material invented by Mr. Jacques E. Brandenberger in 1908, which allowed for urea to be filtered from the blood (Table 1) [6,12,13]. Later, in 1964, Dr. Belding H. Scribner built off of Dr. Kolff's findings, using polytetrafluoroethylene (Teflon<sup>®</sup>), a plastic invented in 1938, to develop the Scribner Shunt (Table 1) [14,15]. Early application of polymers to medicine also extended to improvements in wound care, when, during World War II. Captain H. Bloom developed an alternative to treating second-degree burns using cellophane in 1945, which was found to both greatly reduce pain and promote wound healing (Table 1) [16].

As the polymer-based medical device industry began to expand, work done in the mid-1960s by two independent researchers, Dr. Judah Folkman and Dr. Alex Zaffaroni, led to the development of zero-order drug delivery [17,18]. Early controlled drug delivery products were made of poly(ethylene-co-vinyl acetate) (PEVA), a polymer patented by DuPont in 1956 (Table 1) [17,19]. In the mid-1970 s, Dr. Folkman and Dr. Robert Langer discovered that protein drugs could be released from nondegradable polymer matrices, a finding that led to the beginnings of biodegradable microparticle drug release systems (Table 1) [17,19]. Later developments include half-life manipulation through PEGylation, the evolution of protein- and polysaccharide-based polymers, and the use of active targeting to control delivery of nanotherapeutics (Table 1) [17,20,21].

Over the past eighty years, the polymer-based medical industry has rapidly evolved from an offshoot of the chemical industry to its own distinct and innovative field. This review paper presents a broad vet comprehensive perspective of several notable polymerbased therapeutics, categorized by the area of application (Table 2). It is important to emphasize that this review is not intended to serve as an all-inclusive listing of currently available and developing technologies but rather as a survey of the past, present, and future of polymer-based therapeutics. For this reason, each section also includes references to additional clinically available and developing therapeutics for readers who are interested in deeper study of a particular area. Additionally, for the purposes of this review, polymer-based therapeutics is defined to include, but is not limited to, implants and medical devices, macromolecular drugs, polymer-drug and polymer-protein conjugates, and polymeric micelles containing covalently bound drug or polyplexes. Although the scope of polymer-based therapeutics spans across all organ systems, not all organ systems are included in this review because of the lack of clinically advanced therapeutics currently available for the omitted system. While emphasizing polymerbased therapeutics that have been clinically translated, this review paper will also discuss polymer-based therapeutics that are possibly nearing clinical translation.

# 2. Central Nervous System-Based Therapeutics

Collectively, neurodegenerative central nervous system (CNS) disorders make up one of the leading causes of death and disability today [41]. Specifically, in 2010, brain and other CNS cancers were reported to have a prevalence rate of 221.8 per 100,000 worldwide, with an estimated five-year survival rate of 34.7% in the U.S. alone

	Neoplastic-based Therapeutics	Doxil® (PEGylated) (Alza Corporation): Treatment for AIDS-related Kaposi's Sarcoma, ovarian cancer, and multiple myeloma (PEGylated), Approved in 1995	Abraxane <sup>®</sup> (Celgene): Treatment for metastatic breast cancer, non-small cell lung cancer and pancreatic adenocarcinoma, <i>Approved in</i> 2005	
	Skeletal-based Therapeutics	i-FACTOR <sup>IN</sup> Peptide Enhanced I Bone Graft (Cerapedics, Inc.): C ACDF treatment, <i>Approved in A</i> 2015	Cortoss <sup>®</sup> Bone Augmentation <i>H</i> Material (Stryker): VCF Treatment, <i>Approved in 2009</i> Co	Matrix Induced Autologous Implantation® (MACI®) (Vericel Corporation): Treatment for symptomatic, full-thickness cartilage defects, Approved in 2016
	Reproductive- based Therapeutics	Mirena® (Bayer HealthCare): Intrauterine contraceptive, Approved in 2000	ParaGard <sup>®</sup> (Teva Pharmaceutical Industries): Intrauterine contraceptive, Approved in 1984	NuvaRing <sup>®</sup> (NV Organon): Intravaginal combination hormonal contraception, Approved in 2001
	Dermal-based Therapeutics	Integra® Flowable Wound Matrix (Integra LifeSciences Corp): Tunneled lesions treatment, Approved in 2007	Apligraf <sup>®</sup> (Organogenesis): Treatment for DFUs and chronic venous leg ulcers, <i>Approved in 2000</i>	Epicel® (Vericel Corporation): Treatment for deep dermal or full thickness burns greater than or equal to 30% of body surface area, Approved in 2007
	Cardiovascular- based Therapeutics	AMPLATZER <sup>IM</sup> PFO Occluder <sup>®</sup> (St. Jude Medical):PFO closure device, Approved in 2016	Catapres-TTS <sup>®</sup> (Boehringer Ingelheim): Mild to moderate hypertension treatment, Approved in 1984	TAXUS <sup>®</sup> stent (Boston Scientific): Restenosis treatment, <i>Approved</i> in 2004
	Gastrointestinal- based Therapeutics	TheraSphere <sup>®</sup> (BTG Interventional Medicine): HUD for unresectable HCC, Approved in 1997	Veltassa® (Relypsa): Hyperkalemia treatment, Approved in 2015	
-DASCH LECHINOLOGIES.	Intraocular-based Therapeutics	Retisert <sup>®</sup> (Bausch & Lomb): Implant for treating chronic noninfectious posterior uveitis, <i>Approved in 200</i> 5	lluvien® (Alimera Sciences): Implant for treating DME, Approved in 2014	AzaSite® (InSite Vision): Bacterial conjunctivitis treatment, Approved in 2007
וורפרומווא מו אבוברר המואוווב	entral Nervous System- ased Therapeutics	liadel <sup>®</sup> Wafers (Arbor Pharmaceuticals): Grade III or grade IV glioma and recurrent GBM treatment, Approved in 1996	<i>itegra</i> <sup>m</sup> ( <i>SF Reservoir</i> (Integra LifeSciences Corporation): Access to CSF and for delivery of chemotherapy, <i>Approved in 2016</i>	-Plus <sup>mi</sup> PEEK VBR/IBF System (Pioneer Surgical Technology): IBF and VBR device, Approved in 2014

[42]. The relatively low number of currently available polymerbased therapeutics targeting CNS diseases, however, does not reflect the frequency and severity of these diseases. One of the primary obstacles of treating CNS diseases is the presence of the blood-brain barrier (BBB). The BBB is a tightly regulated membrane that separates the extracellular fluid within the tissue of the brain from the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and also limits the capacity of drug transport to the brain [43]. Several commercially available technologies have addressed this challenge by developing interstitial glioma treatments or mechanisms that allow for drugs to be transported directly into the brain. While some of these technologies are included in the discussion below, the relatively short length of this section reflects the overall lack of polymer-based CNS treatments available today. However, as will be discussed later, many promising technologies are currently being investigated to address this pressing need. For additional discussion of other clinically translated and developing technologies, the interested reader is encouraged to refer to the additional references provided [44-49].

Serving as a prime example of a treatment that effectively circumvents the BBB, Gliadel<sup>®</sup> Wafers (Arbor Pharmaceuticals, Atlanta, Georgia, USA) were developed as an adjunctive therapy for recently diagnosed Grade III or Grade IV glioma and recurrent glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) (Fig. 1A) [50]. Gliadel<sup>®</sup> Wafers are the product of a collaboration between Dr. Robert Langer and Dr. Henry Brem, who teamed up in 1985 to develop an interstitial chemotherapeutic for treating brain cancer [50]. Unlike a systemic chemotherapeutic, Gliadel® Wafers deliver chemotherapeutic agents locally via surgical implantation, thereby avoiding the challenge of drug transport across the BBB [50]. Following removal of the tumor, it is recommended for no more than eight Wafers to be implanted in the resection cavity [51]. Each Gliadel<sup>®</sup> Wafer contains 7.7 mgs of carmustine (3.85% of the wafer by mass), a chemotherapeutic agent, and 192.3 mgs of polifeprosan 20, a biodegradable copolymer of poly (bis(p-carboxyphenoxy)) propane and sebacic acid, which acts to moderate the release of carmustine [51]. Carmustine is released gradually over a period of 2-3 weeks as the anhydride bonds of polifeprosan 20 are hydrolyzed [51]. One of the limitations of Gliadel<sup>®</sup> Wafers, however, is the short half-life of carmustine, which limits the overall effectiveness of the treatment [51]. With that said, Gliadel<sup>®</sup> Wafers have been shown to significantly improve survival rates for both GBM and malignant glioma patients [51]. Since receiving U.S. FDA approval in 1996, Gliadel<sup>®</sup> is available in thirty countries worldwide as of 2013 [52].

Polymer-based CNS therapeutics not only serve as solutions to BBB drug transport but also act as spinal implant devices. The C-Plus<sup>™</sup> PEEK VBR/IBF System (Pioneer Surgical Technology, Alachua, FL, USA) is a spinal implant that functions as both an intervertebral body fusion (IBF) and vertebral body replacement (VBR) device that was introduced to U.S. markets in 2014 following FDA 510 (k) approval (Fig. 1B) [53,54]. In 2016, the System expanded its indication to include use with both allograft and autograft [53]. In conjunction with these grafts, the C-Plus<sup>™</sup> PEEK VBR/IBF System functions to replace or repair spinal bony segments that are either absent or damaged [54]. The IBF/VBR system is made of PEEK-OPTIMA<sup>®</sup> (Invibio<sup>®</sup> Biomaterial Solutions, Lancashire, UK), a polymer first developed by the U.S. aerospace industry in the 1970s that was later modified by Invibio<sup>®</sup> Biomaterial Solutions [55]. PEEK is noted for its longevity and durability under high temperature and pressure, making it an ideal material for load-bearing applications such as the C-Plus<sup>™</sup> PEEK VBR/IBF System [56].

CSF reservoirs offer another method for effectively bypassing drug transport across the BBB. The history of CSF reservoirs originates with the Ommaya Reservoir, which was introduced in 1963 for treating fungal meningitis [57]. Similar to the Ommaya Reser-



Fig. 1. CNS-based Therapeutics. A. Gliadel<sup>®</sup> wafers embedded in a resection cavity [60]; B. C-Plus<sup>™</sup> PEEK VBR/IBF System [53]; C. Integra<sup>™</sup> CSF Reservoir [61].

voir, the Integra<sup>™</sup> CSF Reservoir (Integra LifeSciences Corporation, Plainsboro, NJ, USA) offers the same functionality with updated technology (Fig. 1C). Specifically, the Integra<sup>™</sup> CSF Reservoir is designed to provide access to the lateral ventricles for both sampling of CSF and chemotherapy treatment [58]. Access to the brain and/or CSF can be achieved using a 25-gauge or smaller needle, which is inserted directly through the reservoir dome [58]. Additionally, the convertible form of the reservoir can be used in hydrocephalic patients for shunting CSF from the lateral ventricles to the right atrium of the heart or peritoneum as part of a larger shunting system [59]. All of the available models are made of flexible silicone elastomer and include a suture flange that facilitates attachment to the periosteum [58].

#### 2.1. Future Trends of Central Nervous System-Based Therapeutics

As mentioned before, the BBB acts as the primary obstacle to developing effective CNS disease treatments. Unlike the capillaries of other body tissues, brain and spinal cord capillaries are lined with endothelial cells instead of pores, making it challenging for lipid-insoluble compounds to enter [43]. If a drug does manage to pass through the BBB, it is further subjected to the bloodcerebrospinal fluid barrier (BCB), which is formed by the tight junctions between the choroid plexus and the arachnoid membrane [43]. In addition to the blockade imposed by these junctions, an organic acid transporter within the BCB acts to transport "CSFderived organic acids" into the systemic circulation, thereby limiting delivery of organic acid therapeutics (i.e., penicillin) to the brain [43]. For delivery of chemotherapeutics, this process is further complicated by the blood-tumor barrier (BTB) [43]. Due to the irregular vasculature of tumors, the BTB causes drug to be unevenly distributed across the tumor, resulting in compromised drug delivery and reduced treatment efficacy [43]. This section will discuss several technologies that are currently being developed to address the challenges posed by the BBB, BCB, and BTB. Moreover, this section will also report on a developing spinal cord injury (SCI) treatment that could potentially offer new hope for patients suffering from SCIs.

In 2012, Shao et al. showed that Amphotericin B (AmB), an antibiotic commonly used in treating intracerebral fungal infections, could be formulated as a polymeric micellar system to improve treatment efficacy while also lowering toxicity [62]. Current commercially available formulations of AmB have poor penetration into the CNS and face limited effectiveness as a result [62]; the authors compared angiopep-2 modified AmB incorporated 1, 2-Distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoethanolamine-N-(methoxy(polyethylene glycol)-2000) (PE-PEG)-based polymeric micelles (Angiopep-PEG-PE/AmB) against commercial formulations of AmB to determine whether incorporation of P-glycoprotein (P-gp), an efflux transporter in the extracellular membrane of brain endothelial cells, improved AmB permeability into the brain [62]. The results showed that a majority of the polymeric micelles were internalized in murine brain tissue cells compared to AmB commercial formulations, thus suggesting that this system might be able to effectively deliver AmB in patients [62]. Although the precise mechanism that accounts for the increased CNS penetration of the micellar system is not yet known, the delivery system shows potential for treating intracerebral fungal infection in humans [62].

The Neuro-Spinal Scaffold<sup>TM</sup> is a novel SCI treatment currently being developed by InVivo Therapeutics (Cambridge, MA, USA) [63]. In April 2013, the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold<sup>TM</sup> was designated as a Humanitarian Use Device (HUD) by the U.S. FDA and is currently undergoing an open-label clinical pilot study, which is expected to finish in 2017 [63]. A HUD is a device which benefits no more than 8000 people within the U.S. per year. The scaffold consists of two biodegradable polymers, poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) and poly-L-lysine (PLL), which allow for structural support and facilitate cell-adhesion during the healing process [63]. The scaffold is designed for insertion within the first 96 h after injury and can be sized to fit the injury site [63]. Following implantation, the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold<sup>TM</sup> is seeded with neural stem cells (NSC)s, which have the ability to differentiate into astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and neurons, the main cell types of the CNS [64]. InVivo Therapeutics is also developing an approach to deliver these NSCs to the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold<sup>M</sup>. Referred to as Bioengineered Neural Trails<sup>M</sup>, the injectable scaffold creates longitudinal conduits for cells, which facilitates uniform cell delivery and connectivity as opposed to a perpendicular bolus injection, which would not direct the cells as well in the intended direction [64]. While Bioengineered Neural Trails<sup>M</sup> has not yet undergone clinical studies, *in vivo* studies using rat spinal cord cells demonstrated cell viability and homogeneous cell conduits [64]. In the U.S. alone, the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold<sup>M</sup> could potentially impact as many as 17,000 people per year, based off the number of SCIs that occur annually [65].

# 3. Intraocular-Based Therapeutics

Beginning with the development of PMMA-based contact lenses during the 1940s, the field of intraocular therapeutics was one of the first to take advantage of the therapeutic applications of polymers [66]. In 1949, Dr. Harold Ridley established PMMA as the standard intraocular lens material in cataract extraction procedures; later, PMMA came to be used as an intracorneal lens implant for correcting myopia and hyperopia [66]. During the 1970s, Ocusert® (Alza Corporation, Mountain View, CA, USA) was introduced as the first ocular sustained-release drug delivery system, paving the path for later innovations in intraocular drug delivery [67]. Recently, polymers such as silicones and hydrogels have been adopted as the base material for scleral buckling for treating retinal detachments [66]. The following discussion will detail several of these polymer-based intraocular therapies, with a focus on the most recently translated devices. For additional discussion on clinically-translated and developing intraocular-based therapeutics, the reader is referred to the following articles [68–78].

Retisert<sup>®</sup> (Bausch & Lomb, Rochester, NY, USA) is a nonbiodegradable intraocular implant indicated for treating chronic noninfectious posterior uveitis that was developed by pSivida Corp. (Watertown, MA, USA) (Fig. 2A) [79]. Approved by the U.S. FDA in 2005, Retisert<sup>®</sup> was noted as the first intravitreal drug



Fig. 2. Intraocular Therapeutics. A. Retisert<sup>®</sup> implant [84]; B. Iluvien<sup>®</sup> implant [85]; C. DuraSite<sup>®</sup> technology mechanism of action [86].

implant for treating this type of uveitis [35]. Retisert<sup>®</sup> is designed to release fluocinolone acetonide (FA), a corticosteroid commonly used in treating inflammation, directly into the posterior segment of the eye at a controlled rate for over 30 months [80]. The FAcontaining tablet is encased by a polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) membrane, which is further surrounded by a silicone elastomer cup containing a release orifice [80]. FA exits through the orifice at a rate of 0.6 µgs/day during the first month, followed by a sustained rate of 0.3–0.4  $\mu$ gs/day for the remaining months of treatment [80]. To facilitate surgical implantation, Retisert<sup>®</sup> also includes a silicone elastomer suture strut, which is intended to attach to the sclera [80]. Although Retisert<sup>®</sup> has been shown to cause complications such as cataract, increased intraocular pressure (IOP), and pain, it has been shown to reduce infection recurrence and improve visual acuity compared to traditional posterior uveitis treatments, such as topical corticosteroids or intravitreal injections [79].

Similar to Retisert<sup>®</sup>, Iluvien<sup>®</sup> (Alimera Sciences Limited, Aldershot, UK) is a nonbiodegradable, FA-containing implant also developed by pSivida using Medidur<sup>™</sup> technology (Fig. 2B) [81]. Iluvien<sup>®</sup> is indicated for treating diabetic macular edema (DME) in patients who have been previously treated with corticosteroids without success [37]. Approved by the U.S. FDA in 2014, Iluvien<sup>®</sup> is the first commercially available DME treatment to provide up to 36 months of continuous corticosteroid release from a single dose [37]. Unlike Retisert®, however, Iluvien® instead functions as an injectable capsule, avoiding the need for surgery [37]. The capsule itself is made from polyimide and surrounds a PVA matrix containing 0.19 mgs of FA [82]. Membrane caps on both ends of the capsule moderate the rate of FA release [82]. While many nondegradable, polymeric capsule devices have been associated with fibrosis, the authors were not able to find, to the extent possible, reports of such a response in patients treated with Iluvien<sup>®</sup>. Iluvien<sup>®</sup> is, however, associated with the risk of cataract, IOP, and myodesopsia, in addition to other less common reactions [37]. As of 2017, Iluvien<sup>®</sup> is also available for sale in Austria, Belgium, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom [37].

While the antibiotic azithromycin (AZM) has shown success in treating intraocular infections when taken orally, AZM is associated with a range of systemic side effects [83]. AzaSite<sup>®</sup> (InSite Vision, Alameda, CA, USA) overcomes this challenge using Dura-Site<sup>®</sup> technology, a cross-linked polyacrylic acid polymer-based vehicle (Fig. 2C) [83]. AzaSite<sup>®</sup>, the only FDA-approved topical drug to contain AZM, is indicated for treating bacterial conjunctivitis; however, InSite Vision is also exploring the potential of DuraSite® for drug delivery to the ear, nose, skin, and throat [83]. Following the administration of AzaSite<sup>®</sup> as an eye drop, AZM diffuses from the polymer matrix into the tear film and site of conjunctivitis [83]. AzaSite<sup>®</sup> delivers AZM for up to 6 h, compared to conventional eye drops, which require application every 1–2 h [83]. In clinical studies, AzaSite<sup>®</sup> was shown to resolve clinical symptoms of bacterial conjunctivitis in 63.1% of patients, compared to 49.7% of patients who received the vehicle treatment [83].

#### 3.1. Future Trends of Intraocular Therapeutics

Despite the abundance of commercially available intraocular therapies, the World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that, of the 285 million people worldwide who suffer from visual impairments, 20 million people were blinded as a result of cataracts in 2010 [87]. Moreover, glaucoma, which is treatable if diagnosed early, is estimated to account for 12% of global blindness [87]. Because the greatest burden of blindness is in developing countries lacking medical infrastructure, developing more accessi-

ble therapies for treatable diseases such as glaucoma and cataracts would significantly reduce the toll of visual impairment. The following discussion will highlight some current advances in polymer-based intraocular therapeutics that could potentially better address this global health crisis.

In the United States, cataract removal is the most commonly performed surgery, with almost 4 million surgeries having taken place in 2014 alone [88]. A common post-surgical complication from cataract removal surgery is failure of the patient to follow the prescribed eve-drop dosing schedule, which can result in a compromised healing process [88]. To address this challenge, both IVMED-10 and IVMED-20 (iVeena Pharmaceuticals, Salt Lake City, UT, USA) are currently being developed as an alternative to postoperative cataract anti-inflammatory eye drops [88]. IVMED-10 and IVMED-20 are bioerodible dexamethasone (DXM) implants (BDI) that are implanted in the lens capsule during cataract surgery. allowing for DXM to be delivered to both the posterior and anterior sub-portions of the eye [88]. As the PLGA matrix of the BDI is hydrolyzed, DXM is released either over a period of 2 weeks (IVMED-10) or 6 weeks (IVMED-20), depending on whether the patient has pre-existing conditions that require additional antiinflammation treatment [88]. Proof-of-concept studies published in 2013 showed that DXM release exhibited near zero-order release kinetics during the 42 days of observation [89]. iVeena Delivery Systems is also developing new approaches for treating wet age-related macular degeneration (IVMED-50 and IVMED-55), diabetic retinopathy (IVMED-60), and glaucoma (IVMED-70), although these products are still in the proof-of-concept phase [88].

Secondary to cataract complications, photoreceptor death from degenerative retinal diseases makes up one of the leading causes of blindness worldwide [90]. NeuroTech Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Cumberland, RI, USA) is currently developing a treatment for degenerative retinal diseases using its proprietary Encapsulated Cell Therapy (ECT) technology [91]. NT-501 ECT is furthest along in NeuroTech's pipeline and is currently being tested in a phase II study in subjects with macular telangiectasia (MacTel) and phase I study for glaucoma treatment [91]. The ECT platform is an implantable device containing ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF)secreting cells from the NTC-200 cell line, a genetically engineered line derived from healthy human retinal pigment epithelia cells [91]. CNTF, an endogenous protein expressed by neurons, has been shown to exhibit a neuroprotective effect on photoreceptors in animal models, inspiring the basis behind NT-501 ECT [91]. The NTC-200 cells are encapsulated within a proprietary polymer-based semi-permeable outer membrane and supported by a polyethylene terephthalate scaffold, which allows for CNTF to be secreted over a period of at least two years [92]. By injecting CNTF-secreting cells directly into the vitreous cavity, the challenge of crossing the blood-retina barrier can be avoided [91]. In addition, because the cell line secreting CNTF is immortalized, NT-501 ECT offers the convenience of a single injection [91]. NeuroTech Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is also exploring the use of ECT and the NTC-200 cell for additional intraocular treatments by secreting therapeutics such as antibodies, fusion proteins, and growth factors.

#### 4. Gastrointestinal-Based Therapeutics

In the U.S. alone, gastrointestinal (GI) diseases are estimated to affect 60–70 million people annually [93]. In a recent study investigating the burden of GI diseases in the U.S., Peery et al. concluded that 10% of all mortalities in the US during 2009 were caused by a GI-related problem [93]. The burden of GI diseases is also reflected worldwide. On the global scale, colorectal cancer (CRC), the third most common form of cancer, is associated with a 40% mortality

rate [94]. Moreover, *Helicobacter pylori*, a species of bacteria associated with stomach ulcers and a risk of stomach cancer, is estimated to affect 50% of the global population [94]. The prevalence and associated mortality of GI diseases such as these highlights the need for effective and widely accessible treatments. The following discussion will consider advances in commercially available polymer-based treatments that have helped to not only address this need but also utilize the GI tract as an effective drug delivery route. For further discussion on polymer-based therapeutics applied to the GI system, readers are encouraged to refer to the following references [95–99].

In 2015, the U.S. FDA approved Veltassa® (Relypsa, Redwood City, CA, USA) for the treatment of hyperkalemia, a metabolic condition marked by high potassium ion levels in human serum as a result of kidney dysfunction (Fig. 3) [100]. While the disease is estimated to affect only 2–3% of the general population, as many as 50% of patients with chronic kidney disease suffer from hyperkalemia [101]. If left untreated, hyperkalemia can lead to cardiac dysrhythmia or fatality [102]. Veltassa® is administered orally as a powder dissolved in water and contains patiromer sorbitex calcium, a cross-linked polymer of calcium 2-fluoroprop-2-enoate with diethenylbenzene and octa-1,7-diene, as an active ingredient [103]. When Veltassa<sup>®</sup> enters the GI tract, patiromer sorbitex calcium complex binds to potassium ions in exchange for calcium, which is then excreted normally [103]. Veltassa<sup>®</sup> is the first new hyperkalemia treatment to be FDA-approved since Kayexalate<sup>™</sup> was introduced over 50 years [100]. Compared to Kayexalate<sup>™</sup>, Veltassa<sup>®</sup> has been shown to cause fewer side effects [104].

#### 4.1. Future Directions of Gastrointestinal-Based Therapeutics

Despite the successes of treatments that both address and utilize the physiology of the GI system, the field of polymer-based GI therapeutics remains largely uncharted compared to other areas. In the following section, we will consider early-stage polymer-based GI therapeutics currently under investigation. In addition, we will also discuss a GI-based drug delivery platform that takes advantage of the unique physiological conditions of the GI tract to promote long-term drug release. While the following section serves to provide an overview of the current state of developing GI therapeutics, it is also meant to highlight the need for novel GI therapies and promote further research in the field.



Fig. 3. Gastrointestinal-based Therapeutics: Summary of Veltassa<sup>®</sup> treatment [105].

#### 4.1.1. Non-Oral Delivery

Nippon Kayaku (Tokyo, Japan) is currently investigating NK911, a pancreatic and colorectal cancer treatment, in phase II clinical trials [106]. NK911 is a polymeric micelle (PM) carrier system that was developed in the early 2000s using a block copolymer of poly(ethylene glycol)-b-poly( $\alpha,\beta$ -aspartic acid) [106]. NK911 is specially designed for targeting solid tumors and contains two forms of DOX, incorporated and conjugated [106]. Conjugated DOX is covalently bound to 50% of carboxylic groups of the polyaspartate block (PEG-b-p(Asp-DOX)), which prevents it from affecting tumors; instead, conjugated DOX allows for micelle stabilization and prolongs the release of incorporated DOX, which is loaded freely into the PM [106]. Preclinical studies demonstrated that NK911 accumulates 3.4 times more in tumor tissue than free DOX due to the enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect [106]. Moreover, because NK911 is made with PEG, the PMs can effectively evade the reticuloendothelial system, thus improving circulation time [106]. There is currently no public information regarding when Nippon Kayaku expects to officially launch NK911.

#### 4.1.2. Oral Delivery

The development of a versatile drug delivery platform that can provide long-term drug dosing for a myriad of diseases and conditions remains a coveted goal in pharmaceutical engineering research. One such GI-based platform is currently being developed by Lyndra, Inc. (Watertown, MA, USA) [107]. The platform is intended to prolong drug release over a week or month for medications that would otherwise require daily dosing [107]. The Lyndra platform encapsulates drug within a  $poly(\varepsilon$ -caprolactone) drug release matrix, which undergoes a pH-triggered shape transformation upon reaching the stomach, thereby preventing the capsule from entering the GI tract [108]. The capsule remains in the stomach until the linker molecules holding the expanded structure dissolve, allowing the capsule to leave the stomach and progress through the GI tract [108]. A notable property of this platform is its versatility and potential for use as a multi-drug platform for treating diseases such as malaria. Alzheimer's disease, diabetes, and epilepsy [109]. Lyndra, Inc. is currently seeking FDA approval to test the device in humans [109].

Patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), an idiopathic condition that is estimated to affect between 1 and 1.3 million people in the United States alone, are often treated with intravenous corticosteroids; in cases where patients are nonresponsive to corticosteroids, cyclosporine-A (CYA), an immunosuppressant, may be used as an alternative [110,111]. CYA, however, is associated with serious side effects, including neurological toxicity, renal dysfunction, and nephrotoxicity [110]. In a study published in 2017, researchers demonstrated that orally administered PLGA NPs incorporated with CYA could potentially be used as a method of not only lowering the effective CYA dosage but also reducing systemic exposure. In the study, CYA-NPs and CYA-MPs were prepared using the nano spray drying method and then orally administered in a dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced IBD mouse model [110]. The results from the CYA-NP and CYA-MP treatments were also compared to groups receiving Sandimmune Neoral®, an existing commercial formulation of CYA, and drugfree NPs and MPs [110]. The results indicated that the 25 mg/kg CYA-NP formulation was the most promising, in terms of both its effectiveness in treatment and bioavailability [110]. While this data suggests that CYA-NPs may be an effective new alternative for treating IBD, further analysis must be done to address the limitations associated with the DSS-induced mouse model, in addition to investigating the long-term toxicity of the formulation [110].

While traditionally used for treating *H. pylori* infections, amoxicillin is often limited in use because of its poor ability to maintain an effective concentration at the infection site [112]. In a study published in 2016, Su et al. showed that delivery of amoxicillin to the site of *H. pylori* infection could be improved using  $poly(\gamma$ glutamic acid)-g-arginine ( $\gamma$ -PGA-g-Arg) polypeptide colloidal nanoparticles modified with chitosan-arginine conjugate (CS-N-Arg) [112]. Because *H. pylori* infection sites in the gastric mucosa are characterized by having a pH greater than 5.0, the sensitivity of the drug carrier to pH can be manipulated as a way of improving amoxicillin delivery [112]. By complexing  $\gamma$ -PGA-g-Arg polypeptide with CS-N-Arg, the researchers demonstrated that the stability of the nanoparticles can be modified from a pH range of 2.0–3.0 to 2.0-6.0, thereby enabling rapid, pH-triggered release at the infection site [112]. In addition, the researchers showed that amoxicillin-loaded CS-N-Arg/ $\gamma$ -PGA-g-Arg NPs were most effective at inhibiting *H. pylori* growth compared to both  $\gamma$ -PGA-g-Arg NPs and free amoxicillin as a result of the antibacterial activity of chitosan in acidic conditions [112]. The researchers concluded that the pH-responsive CS-N-Arg/ $\gamma$ -PGA-g-Arg NPs can serve as a potential method for effectively delivering amoxicillin orally, although further experimentation is needed [112].

Another potential CRC treatment is currently being explored by Chaurasia et al. In 2015, the researchers demonstrated the anticancer efficacy of curcumin (CUR)-containing polymeric NPs in treating CRC using an *in vivo* murine model [113]. While known for its free radical scavenging and anticarcinogenic effects, CUR poses a challenge for researchers due to its low oral bioavailability and poor aqueous solubility [114]. To address these limitations, the researchers loaded CUR into Eudragit® E100 (EE100) copolymer using the emulsification-diffusion-evaporation method [113]. The CUR-loaded EE100 NPs (CENP)s were shown to boost the oral bioavailability of CUR; in addition, the particles were shown to decrease tumor size in a colon carcinoma tumor-bearing mouse model following 30 days of daily oral administration [113]. CENPs are larger than free CUR but sufficiently small to still bypass renal clearance (glomerular filtration cutoff is near 5–6 nm), thereby allowing the particles to accumulate at tumor sites by the EPR effect, while limiting the risk of harming healthy tissues [113].

#### 5. Cardiovascular-Based Therapeutics

Cardiovascular therapeutics have long been linked to polymers, beginning with the invention of the first synthetic heart valve [115]. In 1952, Dr. Charles Hufnagel's PMMA-based ball valve became the first heart valve to be surgically implanted in a human (Table 1) [25]. Later, during the 1960s, Dr. Hufnagel's design was modified by Dr. Albert Starr, a surgeon, and Mr. Lowell Edwards, an electrical engineer, to improve survival rates in mitral valve replacement patients (Table 1) [25]. Referred to as the Starr-Edwards heart valve, the improved design enclosed a heat-cured silicone-rubber ball within a Lucite (PMMA) cage, which later evolved into a stellite (cobalt-chromium alloy) metal cage for improved durability [25,116]. Beyond heart valves, polymers have also played key roles as vascular grafts. Spark's mandril, one of the earliest fibrocollagenous tissue-tube vascular grafts, was made using polyethylene terephthalate and polycarbonate (Table 1) [117]. Today, polymers are used in cardiovascular therapeutics for purposes ranging from occluders, drug delivery systems, and stent coatings. The following discussion will consider several novel polymer-based cardiovascular therapeutic devices available today. For additional information on the history and future direction of polymer-based cardiovascular applications, we recommend the following sources for further study [118–124].

The AMPLATZER<sup>™</sup> PFO Occluder<sup>®</sup> (St. Jude Medical, Saint Paul, MN, USA) is the first heart occluder device to be FDA-approved for closing patent foramen ovale (PFO) malformities (Fig. **4A**) [39]. Because a PFO allows blood to leak from the right atrium to

the left atrium, blood clots that would otherwise be filtered by the lungs risk travelling to the brain stem, resulting in a potentially life-threatening cerebrovascular accident (CVA) [125]. In fact, it is estimated that as many as 40-70% of patients who have suffered an idiopathic CVA also have PFO malformities [125]. Because PFOs are typically not treated until after a CVA occurs, surgical closure of PFOs offers a way to significantly reduce the risk of recurrent complications in at-risk patients [125,126]. Studies have shown that patients treated with both anticoagulant medication and the AMPLATZER<sup>™</sup> PFO Occluder<sup>®</sup> experienced a 50% reduction in the rate of CVAs, in comparison to patients who took only bloodthinning medication [39]. During percutaneous closure surgery, the AMPLATZER<sup>™</sup> PFO Occluder<sup>®</sup> is guided to the heart using a catheter or sheath [127]. To facilitate its closing ability, the AMPLATZER<sup>™</sup> PFO Occluder<sup>®</sup> is made from nitinol, a superelastic shape memory nickel titanium alloy, which is shaped into two discs containing polyester fabric connected to each disc by polyester thread [127]. While the AMPLATZER<sup>™</sup> PFO Occluder<sup>®</sup> was originally marketed as a HUD in 2002, the device was later withdrawn from the market after the U.S. FDA concluded that the device targeted more than 8000 patients and had to be approved as a medical device [127,128]. After receiving U.S. FDA approval, the AMPLATZER PFO Occluder<sup>®</sup> returned to the market in October 2016 [127].

Furthermore, many polymer applications in cardiovascular therapeutics are associated with sustained drug release properties. Catapres-TTS<sup>®</sup> (Boehringer Ingelheim, Ingelheim am Rhein, Germany) is a transdermal drug delivery system indicated for treating mild to moderate hypertension (Fig. 4B) [129]. The clonidinedelivering Transdermal Therapeutic System (TTS) was U.S. FDA approved in 1984 as an alternative to oral clonidine, which is associated with side effects such as dry mouth and dizziness [130]. Catapres-TTS<sup>®</sup> is the first adhesive patch that releases clonidine at a nearly constant rate for over seven days [129]. Because of the difference in clonidine concentrations between the skin and patch, clonidine naturally exits the drug reservoir and enters the body transdermally [129]. A microporous polypropylene membrane, which is situated between the drug reservoir and the point of skin contact, regulates the release of clonidine over time [129]. A colloidal suspension of silicon dioxide is used both as a filler within the drug reservoir as well as an adhesive component [131]. Clonidine itself functions as a hypotensive agent and is thought to reduce blood pressure by triggering  $\alpha_2$  adrenoceptors in the brain [130]. In clinical studies, Catapres-TTS<sup>®</sup> was proven to be equivalent or superior to oral clonidine treatments for controlling blood pressure [130,132].

While both balloon angioplasty and coronary artery stents offer potential treatments for coronary artery disease, both are associated with failure due to elastic recoiling of blood vessels hyperplasia [133]. It is estimated that 30-50% of patients receiving a balloon angioplasty experience restenosis, compared to 10-30% of patients treated with coronary artery stents [133]. In 2004, the TAXUS<sup>®</sup> stent (Boston Scientific, Marlborough, MA, USA) was approved by the U.S. FDA for treating restenosis as a result of balloon angioplasty or coronary artery stents (Fig. 4C) [134]. In 2012, the indications for the TAXUS® stent expanded to include patients who have suffered an acute myocardial infarction (AMI), making it the first U.S. FDA-approved drug-eluting stent for treating AMI patients [135]. The TAXUS<sup>®</sup> stent, similar to regular stents, is made of metal, but differs in that it contains a layer of PTX and Translute<sup>™</sup> polymer, a proprietary compound also referred to as poly(styr ene-b-isobutylene-b-styrene) [133]. Unlike a bare metal stent, the TAXUS<sup>®</sup> stent allows for the local delivery of PTX to the arterial wall, which inhibits hyperplasia while minimizing its release into the bloodstream [133].



Fig. 4. Cardiovascular Therapeutics. A. AMPLATZER<sup>™</sup> PFO Occluder<sup>®</sup> [127]; B. Cross section of Catapres-TTS<sup>®</sup> [129]; C. Comparison of paclitaxel-coated and non-paclitaxel coated Express<sup>®</sup> Stents [133].(For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

#### 5.1. Future Direction of Cardiovascular-Based Therapeutics

Despite the advances made in cardiovascular therapeutics over the past decade, cardiovascular diseases (CVD)s remain the leading causes of death globally [136]. In 2015, the WHO reported that 31% of all deaths were due to CVDs [136]. In the U.S., the CDC estimates that 1 in 4 deaths are caused by CVDs [137]. Collectively, this data highlights the need for improved and novel treatments that address CVDs. The following discussion will consider two promising polymer-based therapies that aim to target this global public health crisis.

Shape Memory Medical Inc. (Santa Clara, CA, USA) is currently developing a novel peripheral and neurovascular embolization system for treating aneurysms using shape-memory polymer (SMP) foams [138]. Founded in 2009, Shape Memory Medical Inc. is the product of collaboration between Texas A&M University and Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory [138]. The SMP foams are formulated using polyurethane and offer an alternative to platinum embolization coils and plugs, which can degrade over time and pose health risks for the patient [139]. Polyurethane-based SMP foams have shape-changing properties that allow them to change from a crimped shape, ideal for catheter insertion, to an expanded shape upon reaching the aneurysm site [139]. Compared to traditional embolization devices, the polyurethane-based SMP foams have both a larger volume and surface area, allowing for improved aneurysm healing [139]. In addition, the foams have been shown to more successfully promote growth of collagen compared to other embolization systems, indicating that the SMP foams may in fact reduce the risk of aneurysm recurrence [139]. Shape Memory Medical Inc. expects to begin human trials in 2018 [139].

Novel treatments for atherosclerosis, one of the leading causes of CVD, remain largely in early development stages. In 2015, Sanchez-Gayton et al. demonstrated one such treatment by showing that synthetic high-density lipoproteins (HDL) modified with PLGA exhibited similar biological functions to endogenous HDL [140]. Because HDL has a natural affinity for atherosclerotic plaques, it offers potential not only for treating atherosclerosis but also other diseases, including sepsis. By modifying synthetic HDL with PLGA, synthetic HDL can be used for controlled release of drug at the site of atherosclerotic lesions [140]. In this study, the HDL-mimetic PLGA NPs were formed using microfluidic-based technology previously developed by the same laboratory [140]. The NPs were then tested to see whether they shared the same biological functions as endogenous HDL [140]. The results of the study showed that the HDL-mimetic PLGA NPs could also function as cholesterol acceptors and retained the atherosclerotic plaque-targeting abilities of natural HDL, thus demonstrating the potential for using synthetic PLGA-modified HDL as a theranostic platform [140].

# 6. Dermal-Based Therapeutics

Non-healing wounds are considered by some to be a "silent epidemic" because of their relatively unknown impact compared to big-name diseases such as cancer and CVD [141]. By 2025, it is estimated that over 400 million people will be diagnosed with diabetes, 25% of whom will develop diabetic foot ulcers (DFU)s [142]. The frequency of non-healing wounds is even greater in populations living in remote areas or developing countries lacking medical infrastructure [142]. In recent years, however, novel developments in dermal-based therapeutics have offered a solution for curbing the non-healing wounds epidemic. In the following discussion, we will consider several commercially available products that aim to address this plight. For further discussion of emerging trends and challenges of the field, readers are recommended to refer to the following sources [143–151].

The Integra<sup>®</sup> Flowable Wound Matrix (Integra LifeSciences Corp, Plainsboro, NJ, USA) is an injectable collagen matrix for treating tunneled lesions that was approved by the U.S. FDA in 2007 (Fig. 5A) [36]. Granulated cross-linked bovine tendon collagen and glycosaminoglycans enable the matrix to mold to the injury site upon injection, which then acts as a scaffold to support cell and capillary growth [152]. One of the most notable benefits of the Integra® Flowable Wound Matrix is that it provides a minimally invasive treatment while still promoting complete coverage of the wound [152]. In a pilot study published in 2015, the efficacy of the Integra® Flowable Wound Matrix when combined with percutaneous cannula scar release was tested in patients with postburn hand malfunction [153]. The authors of the study concluded that use of the Integra<sup>®</sup> Flowable Wound Matrix demonstrated gains in various measures, such as active range of motion and disabilities of the arm, shoulder, and hand score, though the results



Fig. 5. Dermal Therapeutics. A. Integra® Flowable Wound Matrix [157]; B. Comparison between Apligraf® and human skin [154].

were not statistically significant, possibly because of the small study size [153].

Skin grafts offer an alternative method for treating DFUs. Apligraf<sup>®</sup> (Organogenesis Inc., Canton, MA, USA) is the only FDAapproved, living, bi-layered skin graft indicated for treatment of chronic venous leg ulcers and DFUs (Fig. 5B) [154]. Similar to living skin, Apligraf<sup>®</sup> contains both an epidermal and dermal layer, which serves to provide a defense against infection and promote wound closure [155]. Apligraf<sup>®</sup> differs from human skin, however, because it lacks melanocytes, Langerhans' cells, macrophages, lymphocytes, and structures such as blood vessels, hair follicles, and sweat glands [154]. The graft is prepared over a 31-day period, beginning with the collection of fibroblasts and keratinocytes from donated neonatal foreskins [154]. Following decontamination and culturing of the cells, the fibroblasts are seeded onto a bovine type I collagen lattice to form the dermis, followed by keratinocyte seeding [154]. As the cells continue to grow and mature, the epidermal and dermal layers differentiate [154]. In clinical trials, 57% of patients treated with Apligraf<sup>®</sup> for venous leg ulcers demonstrated complete wound closure, compared to only 40% of patients who received the control treatment [154]. Similarly, 56% of patients receiving Apligraf<sup>®</sup> for treatment of DFUs experienced complete wound closure, as compared to 36% of patients receiving the control [154].

In addition to DFUs and chronic venous leg ulcers, burns also account for a significant portion of the chronic wound epidemic. Epicel<sup>®</sup> (Vericel Corporation, Cambridge, MA, USA) is a cultured epidermal autograft (CEA) indicated for treating deep dermal or full thickness burns covering greater than or equal to 30% of the body [38]. Epicel<sup>®</sup> is the product of work done by Drs. James Reinwald and Howard Green, who were the first to demonstrate that human keratinocytes could be grown in vitro using irradiated mouse fibroblasts (Table 1) [30]. Following its HDE approval in 2016, Epicel<sup>®</sup> became the first and only CEA to be FDA-approved [38]. The process used to manufacture Epicel<sup>®</sup> today is the same process Dr. Reinwald and Dr. Green first used in 1975 [38]. After a sample of the patient's healthy skin is sent to the Vericel facility in Cambridge, Massachusetts, the keratinocytes are extracted and grown ex vivo using proliferation-arrested, murine fibroblasts on a benzyl esterified hyaluronic acid matrix [38,156]. Each graft is manufactured to be 50 square centimeters and can cover an entire body in 3-4 week [38]. Since Epicel® was introduced in 1988, it has been used to treat over 1500 patients [38].

# 6.1. Future Direction of Dermal-Based Therapeutics

In developing countries that lack access to medical infrastructure and healthcare, patient compliance to medication regimes is often poor, and monitoring patient adherence is a challenge. Long-term subcutaneous drug implants could offer a solution, which would remove the need for continual or bolus-based (i.e., for vaccine development) administrations of the drug of interest and improve patient outcomes. In developed countries, such technologies can also be helpful in terms of patient compliance, as well as providing a convenience factor. In the case of vaccine development, periodic boluses help avoid T cell anergy issues. The concept of a multi-dose, single injection vaccine has been met with formidable challenges, including antigen stability. Such sophisticated delivery systems could also help elucidate what the optimal antigen release kinetics are for vaccine development. The following will consider two subcutaneous drug implant systems currently in development.

The Medici Drug Delivery System<sup>™</sup> (Intarcia Therapeutics, Inc., Boston, MA, USA) is a platform that enables small molecules, such as proteins, peptides, and antibody fragments, to be delivered subcutaneously at a constant rate for up to a year [158]. Water from extracellular fluid enters the device through a semipermeable membrane and drives the system, allowing for drug to be released at a constant rate [158]. Intarcia Therapeutics, Inc. is currently preparing to launch ITCA 650, a treatment for type 2 diabetes that utilizes the Medici Drug Delivery System<sup>™</sup> to release exenatide, a natural, amino acid-based polymer and glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptor agonist (RA) [159]. Existing treatments using GLP-1 RAs require daily or weekly injections, which can result in less than optimal treatment outcomes due to poor patient compliance [159]. In contrast, ITCA 650 promotes virtually 100% therapy compliance and allows for continuous, zero-order exenatide release for up to a year [160]. In February 2017, following completion of phase III clinical trials for the device, the U.S. FDA accepted the New Drug Application for ITCA 650 [158]. Intarcia Therapeutics, Inc. is also currently funded by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation to develop a prophylactic treatment for HIV using the Medici Drug Delivery System<sup>™</sup> [158]. The implantable treatment will target populations most at-risk for HIV infection and will be the first anti-HIV prophylactic treatment of its kind [158].

Microchips Biotech, Inc. (Bedford, MA, USA) is also currently developing a subcutaneous implant solution for providing longterm drug dosing. Microchips Biotech, Inc. has had 113 patents granted so far, with over 30 patent applications currently pending [161]. The microchip implants are designed to store hundreds of 1mg doses, which can be activated and deactivated using wireless signals, or triggered by physiological conditions [161]. The technology is specifically targeted to diseases and conditions requiring long-term dosing, such as osteoporosis, multiple sclerosis, diabetes, and pain management [161]. In addition to programmable, electronic microchips, the Microchips Biotech pipeline also includes resorbable, non-electronic polymer-based microchips made of poly(L-lactic acid) with PLGA membrane-covered reservoirs [162]. In 2012, Farra et al. conducted the first-in-human testing of the electronic microchip design using human parathyroid hormone fragment (1–34) (hPTH(1–34)) to treat patients with osteoporosis and osteopenia [163]. The results of the study demonstrated that the drug and device combination were well-tolerated; in addition, the pharmacokinetic profile of hPTH(1–34) in patients treated with the drug and device was shown to be similar to that of patients receiving only subcutaneous injections [163]. Microchips Biotech, Inc. is also working with the Gates Foundation to develop a contraceptive implant utilizing the microchip-based implant design that allows for up to 16 years of reversible birth control [161].

#### 7. Reproductive-Based Therapeutics

The first example of polymeric-based contraception could arguably be the use of aromatic hydrocarbons in honey mixed with unripe acacia fruit in the 16th century BCE [164,165]. While the history of intrauterine devices (IUD)s dates to the early 20th century, polymer-based IUDs were not introduced until the 1960s [26]. These early IUDs, such as the Perma-Spiral/Gynecoil<sup>®</sup> in 1960 and the Lippes Loop in 1961, took advantage of the shape memory properties of thermoplastics, increasing the ease of insertion and removal (Table 1) [26]. Later, in 1970, the first contraceptive vaginal ring was developed using silicone rubber combined with medroxyprogesterone acetate (Table 1) [166]. Over time, advances in the development of polymer-based IUDs and vaginal rings have allowed for expanded indications, such as hormonal therapy. While IUDs are the most commonly used contraception method, both IUDs and vaginal rings offer distinct advantages and disadvantages, such as the duration of use and indication [167]. In the following discussion, we will evaluate three commercially available polymer-based IUDs and vaginal rings. Readers interested in further discussion of clinically translated and developing reproductive-based therapeutics are encouraged to refer to the provided references [168–174]. In addition, readers interested in a more thorough history and discussion on the evolution of IUDs and vaginal rings are recommended to refer to the provided sources [166,175].

Mirena<sup>®</sup> (Bayer HealthCare, Berlin, Germany) is a levonorgestrel intrauterine system (LNG IUS) indicated for up to 5 years of intrauterine contraception, in addition to managing idiopathic menorrhagia, dysmenorrhea, adenomyosis, and endometrial hyperplasia (Fig. 6A) [176]. Originally developed by Schering, Mirena<sup>®</sup> was first licensed in Finland in 1990 and later approved by the U.S. FDA in 2000 as the first LNG IUS [33]. Mirena<sup>®</sup> is made of a polyethylene T-shaped frame and vertical drug reservoir, which contains a blend of silicone and LNG [177]. For the first month following insertion, LNG is released topically at a rate of 20 µgs per day; over a period of 5 years, the rate decreases to 10 µgs per day [177]. The failure rate of Mirena<sup>®</sup> by the Pearl Index is 0.14 pregnancies per 100 women, with an overall cumulative efficacy of 99.3% over 5 years [176]. Today, Mirena<sup>®</sup> is available in over 120 countries worldwide, although its high price tag limits its accessibility for many [178].

In comparison to LNG IUSs, copper-containing IUDs offer a nonhormonal solution to contraception. ParaGard® T 380A Intrauterine Copper Contraceptive, or ParaGard®, (Teva Pharmaceutical Industries, Petah Tikva, Israel) is currently the only copper-containing IUD approved for use in the U.S. (Fig. 6B) [179]. In studies, Para-Gard® has been shown to be nearly as effective as male or female sterilization; unlike sterilization, however, ParaGard® allows for reversible fertility [179]. Similar to other IUDs such as Mirena® and Fibroplant®, ParaGard® shares the same polyethylene T-shaped frame design; unlike LNG IUDs, however, ParaGard® contains 380 square millimeters of copper wire wrapped around



**Fig. 6.** Reproductive-based Therapeutics. **A.** Labeled components of Mirena<sup>®</sup> [186]; **B.** ParaGard<sup>®</sup> [187]; **C.** NuvaRing<sup>®</sup> [188].

its stem [179]. The copper ions act to reduce sperm mobility, consequently inhibiting fertilization [179]. While ParaGard<sup>®</sup> has a slightly lower success rate compared to Mirena<sup>®</sup> and other LNG IUDs (specifically, 0.6/100 accidental pregnancies, compared to 0.5/100), it is noted for its longer protection time of up to 12 years and hormone-free properties [180].

While not as widely used as IUDs, vaginal rings such as NuvaRing<sup>®</sup> (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) offer an alternative contraceptive method (Fig. 6C). In addition to being approved by the U.S. FDA in 2001 as an estrogen/progestin combination hormonal contraceptive, NuvaRing® is licensed for sale in Russia, Canada, and several other European countries [34]. NuvaRing<sup>®</sup> releases 120 ugs of etonogestrel and 15 µgs of ethinyl estradiol (EE) daily. These hormones function by suppressing gonadotropins, thereby inhibiting ovulation, increasing cervical mucus levels, and causing changes in the endometrium [181]. The ring has an outer diameter of 54 mms and is made from poly(ethylene-vinyl acetate) (PEVA) and magnesium stearate [182]. The core contains etonogestrel and EE, which is surrounded by a sheath layer of PEVA [183]. One ring is used per cycle, with a 1-week ring-free period between uses [181]. NuvaRing<sup>®</sup> has a Pearl Index of 1.18 (number of pregnancies per 100 woman years) and overall efficacy of 99.1% [182]. One of the advantages of contraceptive vaginal rings over oral medication is that the steroid concentration remains uniform throughout the day [183]. In addition, because the contraceptive is administered topically, a lower dose of the steroid can be used since administration avoids the hepatic first-pass and gastrointestinal interference [183]. NuvaRing<sup>®</sup>, however, is allegedly associated with causing 83 wrongful deaths, in addition to resulting in side effects such as blood clots, strokes, heart attacks, and cancer [184]. Today, NuvaRing<sup>®</sup> is sold in over 50 countries worldwide, and it is estimated that over 44 million prescriptions have been filled in the U.S. alone since 2002 [185].

#### 7.1. Future Direction of Reproductive-Based Therapeutics

The HIV/AIDS pandemic is one of our generation's most severe health threats. In 2015 alone, the WHO estimated that 36.7 million people were living with HIV, with a total of 2.1 million new infections and 1.1 million deaths resulting from AIDS-related problems [189]. While much work has been done to develop an HIV vaccine, a highly effective candidate remains to be identified [190]. For this reason, many researchers have turned to HIV microbicides as the future of prophylactic treatment. In particular, microbicide-based vaginal rings offer advantages over other HIV prevention methods, such as condoms, by providing discreetness and female control [190]. While a microbicide-based vaginal ring has yet to become commercially available, current efforts show promising results. The following discussion will highlight two such vaginal rings that are currently in development.

In 2004, the International Partnership for Microbicides (IPM) began developing the first vaginal ring capable of delivering a prophylactic HIV-1 antiretroviral (ARV) drug [191]. Because the majority of individuals infected with HIV-1 are women, developing a preventive treatment specifically geared toward women would significantly aid in lowering infection rates [192]. The ring is formulated from silicone and contains 25 mgs of dapivirine (Janseen Sciences Ireland UC, Cork, Ireland), a non-nucleoside reversetranscriptase inhibitor (NNRTI) ARV drug, which is released over a month-long period [192]. Since the dapivirine ring acts locally, potential side effects resulting from dapivirine are minimized, while also providing a discreet and convenient treatment [192]. In a phase III study conducted by IPM, researchers found that consistent use of the dapivirine ring reduced HIV risk by at least 56% [191]. Approval for the ring is expected in late 2018 or 2019 [191]. Moreover, a dapivirine-contraceptive ring that also contains levonorgestrel is currently being investigated in an ongoing phase I trial [193].

Another microbicide vaginal ring currently in development is the VersaRing<sup>®</sup> technology platform (Auritec Pharmaceuticals, Santa Monica, CA, USA). Studies have demonstrated that herpes simplex virus type 2 (HSV-2) infection increases the risk of contracting HIV-1, suggesting that a dual HIV-1 and HSV-2 prophylactic treatment could effectively lower infection rates for both diseases [194]. This novel platform design allows for prevention against both HSV-2 and HIV-1 using a pod intravaginal ring (IVR) system, which allows for multiple polymer-coated drug cores (or "pods") to be positioned within a nonmedicated, silicone elastomer ring [195]. *In vivo* studies performed in both sheep and rabbits demonstrated that topical, sustained-release of both tenofovir, an NNRTI used in HIV-1 prevention and treatment, and acyclovir, an antiviral commonly used in treating HSV-2, from poly-DL-lactide-coated pods could be achieved using the platform [195]. Because the release rate of each drug is determined by factors such as the cross sectional area of the pod and number of delivery channels, up to ten drug dosages can be released at different rates [195]. Auritec Pharmaceuticals expects VersaRing<sup>®</sup> to launch in 2022 and is currently designing five different IVR formulations [195].

#### 8. Skeletal System-Based Therapeutics

The history of musculoskeletal therapeutics can be traced back to the seventeenth century, when Dr. Job van Meekeren became the first documented person to successfully perform a bone graft in 1668 [196]. During the 1960s, the development of the demineralized bone matrix and bone morphogenetic protein by Dr. Marshall Urist revolutionized bone repair methods (Table 1) [27]. With the advent of polymers in the twentieth century, bone graft substitutes expanded to include both degradable and nondegradable polymers in products such as CORTOSS<sup>®</sup>, OPLA<sup>®</sup>, and IMMIX<sup>®</sup>, to name a few [197]. The following paragraphs will discuss three recently approved polymer-based bone grafts. Readers interested in further discussion of skeletal system-based therapeutics, including dental applications, are encouraged to refer to the provided references [198–209].



Fig. 7. Skeletal Therapeutics. A. The yellow arrow indicates the cartilage defect before surgical intervention [218]; B. Image of the same defect area shown in Fig. 7A six months following the MACI<sup>®</sup> procedure; C. i-Factor<sup>™</sup> Peptide Enhanced Bone Graft [210]; D. Cortoss<sup>®</sup> Bone Augmentation Material [219]. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

Matrix-Induced Autologous Chondrocyte Implantation<sup>®</sup> (MACI<sup>®</sup>) (Vericel Corporation, Cambridge, MA, USA) is the first cellularized scaffold of its kind to be approved by the U.S. FDA for treating symptomatic, full-thickness cartilage defects (Fig. 7A, B) [40]. Each implant is manufactured using a biopsy of the patient's own healthy chondrocytes, which is then grown onto a Type I/III porcine collagen membrane scaffold [40]. Each implant contains at least 500,000 cells per square centimeter and can be trimmed by the surgeon to fit the precise size and shape of the defect site [40]. All patients undergoing the MACI® procedure must also adhere to a rehabilitation program following surgery [40]. Within 9-12 months following surgery, patients can resume their normal activities [40]. In a two-year prospective randomized trial comparing patient treatment outcomes from treatment with either MACI® or traditional microfracture (MFX) surgery, it was found that MACI<sup>®</sup> performed both clinically and statistically significantly better than MFX in treating cartilage defects [217].

i-FACTOR<sup>™</sup> Peptide Enhanced Bone Graft (Cerapedics, Inc., Westminster, CO, USA), also referred to as i-FACTOR<sup>™</sup> Bone Graft and i-FACTOR<sup>™</sup> Putty, is the first and only bone graft to be FDAapproved for anterior cervical discectomy and fusion (ACDF) surgery (Fig. 7C) [210]. i-FACTOR<sup>™</sup> Putty is composed of P-15, a synthetically derived protein found in human collagen, bovine anorganic bone material (ABM), and a hydrogel component containing glycerin, water, and sodium carboxymethylcellulose, which accounts for 41.8% of the putty [210]. Upon placement within the allograft ring, the P-15/ABM complex recruits both mesenchymal stem cells and other progenitor cells [210]. The recruited cells are then able to activate integrin signaling, resulting in osteoblast proliferation [210]. In a study comparing the efficacy of i-FACTOR™ Putty and autografts, patients treated with i-FACTOR<sup>™</sup> Putty showed an overall statistically significant success rate of 68.75%, compared to a success rate of 56.94% in patients treated with a traditional autograft procedure [211].

Beyond serving as bone graft materials, polymers are also noted for their use as bone strengthening agents. Cortoss<sup>®</sup> Bone Augmentation Material (Stryker<sup>®</sup>, Malvern, PA, USA) is a bioactive microglass cement containing an amorphous calcium phosphate polymer ceramic that functions as a vertebral augmentation treatment (Fig. 7D) [212–215]. Cortoss<sup>®</sup> was FDA-approved for the treatment of vertebral compression fractures (VCF)s in 2009, making it the first approved alternative to PMMA [212,213,216]. Because Cortoss<sup>®</sup> is associated with a low viscosity, it disperses upon injection, allowing the cement to diffuse into microfractures [212,213]. Within 15 mins, Cortoss<sup>®</sup> can reach 75% of the compressive strength of normal cortical bone [123]. The bioactive properties of Cortoss<sup>®</sup> allow for the deposition of hydroxyapatite onto the cement, promoting redevelopment of host bone at the site of treatment [214]. In comparison to PMMA, Cortoss<sup>®</sup> has been shown to reduce pain faster and improve spinal function in less time [214]. In a two-year clinical study, patients receiving Cortoss<sup>®</sup> demonstrated an Oswestry Disability Index success rate of 96.7% at 24 months, while patients treated with PMMA had a success rate of 88.4% [216].

# 8.1. Future Direction of Skeletal System-Based Therapeutics

As previously discussed, polymer-based bone grafts, strengthening agents, and cell-based implants have helped improve treatment outcomes and restore mobility for many patients. With that said, the field of skeletal therapeutics still falls short in providing effective therapies for diseases such as osteoporosis, osteomyelitis, Rickets, and acromegaly, to name a few. It is estimated that between 1990 and 2010 the number of disabilities resulting from musculoskeletal diseases rose by 45%, due in part to the growing global population of seniors [220]. We will next consider two potential polymer-based therapies that could potentially fill some of these unaddressed needs.

In 2015, Cong et al. reported on the development of a potential polymer-based osteomyelitis treatment using vancomycin-loaded NPs prepared from micelle-forming PLGA-block-PEG-alendronate copolymer [221]. Current osteomyelitis treatments involve surgical intervention, which can lead to additional infection, or longterm antibiotic dosing, which may result in undesirable side effects (i.e., unfavorably modifying the gut biome) and possible drug resistance [221]. Inspired by these limitations, the PLGA-PEG micelles developed in this study offer a potentially noninvasive treatment for osteomyelitis with a reduced side effects profile [221]. Alendronate (ALN) is a bisphosphonate that binds to the calcium ions of hydroxyapatite (HA), the principal inorganic component of bone (ALN has been known to cause bone to be excessively brittle in some cases, however) [221]. Conjugating ALN onto the surface of the micelles allows the NPs to overcome the blood-bone marrow barrier and effectively deliver antibiotics directly to the infection site [221]. From the in vivo study results, the researchers concluded that the NPs inhibited the growth of Staphylococcus aureus, the more prevalent pathogen found in osteomyelitis, without causing cytotoxicity [221]. Moreover, the micelles also demonstrated their affinity to HA and showed potential as a targeted osteomyelitis treatment, although these results have yet to be confirmed in vivo [221].

Polymeric drug delivery systems are also being explored for treating osteoporosis. Takeuchi et al. recently published a paper describing a PLGA-based iontophoretic transdermal delivery system [222]. Designed to address the limitations of oral  $17\beta$ estradiol (E2) administration, a drug commonly used in hormone replacement therapy for treating postmenopausal osteoporosis, this polymer-based system uses NPs to avoid the hepatic firstpass effect, which is unavoidable via the oral route [222]. To improve skin permeability of the E2-loaded NPs via iontophoresis, the particles were given a high surface charge density [222]. In this study, both bare NPs and PVA-coated NPs loaded with E2 were prepared using antisolvent diffusion methods and preferential solvation [222]. The results from this study showed that NPs with a high surface charge number density allowed for better transdermal iontophoresis, in addition to increasing both cancellous and cortical bone mineral density [222]. In conclusion, the researchers determined that the iontophoretic transdermal delivery system developed in this study could serve as a potentially clinically translatable therapy for osteoporosis [222].

#### 9. Neoplasm-Based Therapeutics

Since the 1960s, polymers have been recognized as attractive cancer therapeutic vehicles because of their selective-targeting and controlled-release properties [223]. Many polymers since have been modified through a variety of methodologies (i.e., functionalization, bioconjugation) to achieve increasingly more optimal targeting and drug release profiles. Despite the fact that approximately 9,000 papers discussing polymer-based cancer treatments have been published over the past eighty years, only 95 (or 1%) of these potential treatments have entered clinical trials [223]. Moreover, it is of note that other nanocarriers, such as monoclonal antibodies and liposomes, also demonstrate a similarly disappointing trend in clinical translation, further exemplifying the challenge of developing successful cancer nanotherapeutics [223]. Despite the obstacles associated with this field, however, several of these therapies have been successfully translated, as we will explore in the following discussion. For further discussion of developing technologies and future directions of the field, readers can refer to the following citations [224–235].

Doxil<sup>®</sup> (Alza Corporation, Mountain View, CA, USA), which is marketed as Caelyx<sup>®</sup> in Europe, became the first commercially available liposomal-based drug in 1995, following its U.S. FDA approval for treatment of AIDS-related Kaposi's Sarcoma (Fig. 8A) [32]. Today, Doxil<sup>®</sup> indications have expanded to both ovarian cancer and multiple myeloma [236]. The current formulation of Doxil® contains doxorubicin hydrochloride, an anthracycline topoisomerase II inhibitor, within a sterically stabilized, or STEALTH®, liposome [236]. The STEALTH<sup>®</sup> liposomes are coated with PEG, which allow for improved stability and circulation time, in turn reducing side effects such as cardiotoxicity, myelosuppression, alopecia, and nausea [237,238]. Compared to free DOX, which distributes systemically, Doxil<sup>®</sup> is targeted to tumors by the EPR effect and released only after the liposome degrades [239]. It is also thought that Doxil<sup>®</sup> is metabolized through a different mechanism than free DOX, which may also account for its comparative effectiveness [239]. Similar to Doxil<sup>®</sup>, a number of PEGylated drugs have been clinically translated, including Adagen<sup>®</sup>, PegIntron<sup>®</sup>, Mircera<sup>®</sup>, and Cimzia<sup>®</sup> [240].

Abraxane<sup>®</sup> (Celgene, Summit, NJ, USA) offers another example of a polymer-based chemotherapeutic (Fig. 8B). Initially approved by the U.S. FDA in 2005 for treating metastatic breast cancer, Abraxane<sup>®</sup> has since expanded its use for treating both nonsmall cell lung cancer and pancreatic adenocarcinoma [241]. For the purposes of this review, Abraxane<sup>®</sup> can be considered a natural polymer because of the presence of human serum albumin. Because PTX is poorly soluble in water, traditional PTX formulations use lipid-based solvents, such as Cremophor EL<sup>®</sup>, to improve solubility; however, these formulations are limited by their potentially severe toxicities, which can result in conditions such as anaphylaxis, hyperlipidemia, and irreversible neuropathy [242]. Abraxane<sup>®</sup> addresses the limitations of lipid-based solvent formulations by binding PTX with human serum albumin, a protein carrier of hydrophobic molecules in the blood plasma [242]. With annual sales in 2013 reaching \$649 million, Abraxane® is one of the most common chemotherapeutic drugs used in treating metastatic breast cancer [243]. Also encouraging is a PTX-loaded recombinant polypeptide nanoparticle that outperforms Abraxane<sup>®</sup> in murine cancer models, which was published in 2015 [244].

# 9.1. Future Directions of Neoplasm-Based Therapeutics

One reason explaining why potential cancer nanomedicines have such a low rate of clinical translation is that formulations are often excessively complex with many desired functionalities to the point that seeking FDA approval is an arduous process, stifling clinical translation. As increasingly complex nanomedicines receive approval and researchers are able to demonstrate substantial equivalence to previously FDA-approved technologies, nanomedicine formulations with a great deal of functionality will be able to undergo the approval process in a more timely fashion. A thorough investigation of how clinical translation in a burgeoning field is stifled, due to the inability to demonstrate equivalence to previously translated technologies (i.e., 510(k) clearance), would be worthwhile. For these reasons, much of the work currently being done in cancer therapeutics remains largely in the preclinical and early clinical stages. In the following discussion, we will highlight several notable and promising multi-targeting cancer technologies currently in early stages of development.

Nanospectra Biosciences, Inc. (Houston, TX, USA) is currently developing a hyperthermia treatment using specially designed NPs that have been engineered to have a surface plasmon resonance capable of absorbing infrared (IR) light and subsequently converting the energy to heat [247]. NPs that absorb in the IR or near-IR (NIR) wavelengths are desirable because biological tissues attenuate electromagnetic radiation to a lesser degree in this region, thereby enabling crosstalk with the NPs through tissue on demand via light on the order of a few centimeters [248]. Termed as AuroShell<sup>®</sup> particles, these NPs are about 150 nms in diameter and consist of a 120 nm silica core surrounded by approximately 15 nms of gold, providing the AuroShell<sup>®</sup> particles with their unique optical extinction properties [247]. To improve circulation time, the AuroShell<sup>®</sup> particles are made with PEG [247,249]. Following accumulation at the tumor site by the EPR effect, which occurs approximately 12-24 h after administration, NIR laser energy is applied at the tumor site using an interstitial fiber optic probe, as the tumor is often deeper than a few centimeters in tissue [249]. In vitro and in vivo studies showed no indications of toxicity [249]. Currently, Nanospectra Biosciences, Inc. is conducting clinical studies of AuroLase<sup>®</sup> Therapy in both refractory and recurrent head and neck cancer and prostate cancer; other cancer indications are still in development [247]. For metastatic cancer, NIR therapy is further limited since all tumor locations must be identified prior to NIR application. While obstacles such as these complicate NIR use as a broad-spectrum cancer therapy. NIR still demonstrates potential as a cancer therapeutic for non-metastatic cancers located close to the skin.

As discussed previously, an emerging trend in cancer nanomedicine is using the selective-targeting properties of polymers as an alternative to systemic chemotherapy and radiation. Branching off of this idea, Cantu et al. showed that using conductive polymerbased NPs as photothermal therapy (PTT) agents may potentially offer a safer, more effective alternative to radiation and chemotherapy [250]. Because PTT relies on NIR light to excite agents that convert light into heat, it can be targeted specifically to cancer cells,



Fig. 8. Neoplastic Therapeutics. A. Doxil<sup>®</sup> [245]; B. Representation of Abraxane<sup>®</sup> in the bloodstream [246].

while minimizing the risk of harming healthy tissue [250]. The reason why cancer cells are more susceptible to cell death via PTT is because tumors are generally not as well-vascularized (hence their hypoxic tendencies) which is the main mechanism that regulates tissue temperatures. In this particular study, the researchers tested whether conductive polymeric NPs (CPNP)s made of poly(diethyl-4,4'-{[2,5-bis(2,3-dihydrothieno[3,4-b][1,4]dioxin-5-yl)-1,4-pheny lene] bis(oxy)}dibutanoate) and poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) stabilized with 4-dodecylbenzenesulfonic acid and poly (4-styrenesulfonic acid-co-maleic acid) had greater conversion efficiencies than gold-based PTT agents using an MDA-MB-231 in vitro cancer model [250]. CPNPs can be modified to absorb NIR light by a variety of ways, including manipulation of the polymer chain backbone [250]. Previous studies have not investigated CPNPs as PTT agents because of the NPs' inability to dissolve in aqueous solutions: however, this study used oxidative-emulsion polymerization to overcome the challenge of insolubility [250]. Because the CPNPs tested in this study demonstrated conversion efficiencies greater than both gold nanorods and gold NPs, the researchers concluded CPNPs could potentially be used as PTT agents [250].

In the past several years, theranostic nanomedicine has become a growing research interest. Recently, Jia et al. reported on the development of a theranostic photodynamic therapy (PDT) treatment that showed promising in vivo results [251]. PDT offers a less-invasive cancer treatment option than surgery or radiation; for this reason, it is often used in treating early-stage cancers and pre-cancers [252]. However, current PDT treatments are limited by the hydrophobicity of most photosensitizer molecules, which can cause aggregation in aqueous solutions, in addition to poor tumor selectivity [251]. To address these limitations, the researchers developed a nanoparticle system by conjugating protoporphyrin IX (PpIX) and methoxy-PEG using a glycol chitosan (GC) linker [251]. Referred to as GC-PEG-PpIX NPs, the NPs selfassemble in aqueous solutions and then accumulate at the tumor site by the EPR effect, after which the particles undergo adsorption onto the cell membranes [251]. Upon irradiation, PpIX fluoresces and produces singlet oxygen radical molecules, disrupting the cell membrane and allowing PpIX influxion into the cell, causing cell death by way of disrupting the cell membrane [251]. The researchers of this study concluded that the results from the in vivo studies demonstrated potential for clinical use, although further experiments are necessary [251].

In addition to the exciting developments taking place in preclinical chemotherapeutics research, encouraging results can also be seen in clinical studies. Cerulean Pharma (Waltham, MA, USA) is currently developing CRLX101 (formerly known as IT-101), a nanoparticle-drug conjugate containing camptothecin (CPT), a powerful chemotherapeutic limited in use by its high toxicity and poor water solubility [253,254]. In CRLX101, CPT is conjugated to cyclodextrin-PEG copolymer by linker molecules, enabling CPT delivery to be localized at the tumor site [253]. In human studies, CRLX101 was shown to accumulate in biopsied gastric tumors, as opposed to adjacent, healthy tissue, suggesting that CRLX101 acts through the EPR effect [253]. While CRLX101 was shown to be safe in treating metastatic renal cell carcinoma (RCC) during phase I clinical trials, results from phase II clinical trials in 2016 reported that there was no statistically significant difference in median progression free survival rates in RCC patients treated with coadministration of CRLX101 and Avastin® versus patients who received standard of care therapy [255]. CRLX101 is also currently being investigated in a phase I/II trial in patients with relapsed/ refractory small cell lung cancer [256].

Similar to CRLX101, BIND-014 is another chemotherapeutic nanoparticle also currently in the clinical trial phase. BIND-014 is a novel targeted nanoparticle treatment being developed by BIND Therapeutics (Cambridge, MA, USA) consisting of polylactic acid polymer and docetaxel, a cancer drug already approved for use in treating several solid tumor cancers [257]. The outer surface of BIND-014 is coated with PEG and contains ligands that target prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA), a surface protein expressed by both prostate cancer cells and developing cancer vasculature in most nonprostate solid tumors, allowing BIND-014 to selectively target cancer cells [258]. In preclinical studies, higher levels of docetaxel were shown to accumulate intratumorally following BIND-014 administration compared to that resulting from equal dosages of docetaxel [257]. Results from the phase I clinical trials reported not only the safety of BIND-014 but also confirmed these same preclinical results [257]. BIND-014 is currently undergoing a phase II clinical trial in patients with solid tumors [259].

# 10. Conclusion

Polymer-based therapeutics have not only expanded the impact of modern medicine but have also enhanced the accessibility of patient care. The adoption of polymers in both the medical device and pharmaceutical industries further speaks to their unparalleled properties as biomaterials. With the emerging field of sustained release drug delivery, therapeutics can be better tailored for application in areas lacking access to permanent medical infrastructure. On the other side of the spectrum, polymer-based medical devices, such as the TAXUS<sup>®</sup> Stent, Iluvien<sup>®</sup>, and C-Plus<sup>™</sup> PEEK IBF System, have broadened the capabilities and efficacy of disease treatment. However, despite the success and promise of polymers in medicine, the global toll of disease remains a growing concern today. According to the WHO, in 2015 alone, ischemic heart disease and stroke made up the leading causes of death worldwide [260]. In this same year, lower respiratory infections, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and cancers of the trachea, bronchus, and lung caused over 8 million deaths [260]. Data such as this underscores the need for new and innovative approaches for disease treatment. To better target the global burden of disease, we suggest that polymers may offer a novel approach to combatting these diseases, while also continuing to expand the accessibility of medical care worldwide.

# Acronyms

 $\gamma$ -PGA-g-Arg: poly( $\gamma$ -glutamic acid)-g-arginine; ABM: anorganic bone material; ACDF: anterior cervical discectomy and fusion; ALN: alendronate; AmB: amphotericin B; AMI: acute myocardial infarction; ARV: antiretroviral; AZM: azithromycin; BBB: blood-brain barrier; BCB: blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier; BDI: bioerodible dexamethasone implant; BTB: blood-tumor barrier; CEA: cultured epidermal autograft; CENP: curcumin-loaded Eudragit® E100 nanoparticle; CNS: central nervous system; CNTF: ciliary neurotrophic factor; CPNP: conductive polymeric nanoparticles; CPT: camptothecin; CRC: colorectal cancer; CSF: cerebrospinal fluid; CS-N-Arg: chitosan-arginine conjugate; CUR: curcumin; CVA: cerebrovascular accident; CVD: cardiovascular disease; CYA: cyclosporine-A; DFU: diabetic foot ulcer; DME: diabetic macular edema; DOX: doxorubicin; DSS: dextran sulfate sodium; DXM: dexamethasone; ECT: Encapsulated Cell Therapy; E2: 17  $\beta$ estradoil; EE: ethinyl estradiol;EE100: Eudragit<sup>®</sup> E100; EPR: enhanced permeability and retention: FA: fluocinolone acetonide: GBM: glioblastoma multiforme; GC: glycol chitosan. GI: gastrointestinal; GLP-1: glucagon-like peptide-1; HA: hydroxyapatite; HCC: hepatocellular carcinoma; HDL: high-density lipoprotein; hPTH(1-34): human parathyroid hormone fragment (1-34); HSV-2: herpes simplex virus type 2; HUD: humanitarian use device; IBF: intervertebral body fusion; IOP: intraocular pressure; IBD: inflammatory bowel disease; IPM: International Partnership for Microbicides; IUD: intrauterine device; IUS: intrauterine system; IVR: intravaginal ring; LNG: levonorgestrel; MACI<sup>®</sup>: Matrix-Induced Autologous Chondrocyte Implantation<sup>®</sup>; MacTel: macular telangiectasia; MFX: microfracture; MNP: magnetic nanoparticle; MSN: magnetic silica nanoparticle; NIR: near infrared; NNRTI: non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor; NP: nanoparticle; NSC: neural stem cell; PDT: photodynamic therapy; PEG: polyethylene glycol; PE-PEG: 1, 2-Distearoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphoethanola mine-N-(methoxy(polyethylene glycol)-2000); PEVA: poly(ethylene vinyl acetate); PFO: patent foramen ovale; PLGA: poly(lacticco-glycolic) acid; PLL: poly-l-lysine; PM: polymeric micelle; PMMA: poly(methyl methacrylate); PpIX: protoporphyrin IX; PTT: photothermal therapy; PTX: paclitaxel; PVA: polyvinyl alcohol; RA: receptor agonist; RCC: renal cell carcinoma; VBR: vertebral body replacement; VCF: vertebral compression fracture; SCI: spinal cord injury: SMP: shape-memory polymer: TTS: Transdermal Therapeutic System.

# References

- E. Chiellini, Polymers in Medicine II: Biomedical and Pharmaceutical Applications, Plenum Press, New York, 1986.
- [2] M.A.Y.a.M.J.F. C. Freeman, The Plastics Indsutry: A Comparative Study of Research and Innovation, National Institute Economic Review (1963) pp. 22– 62.
- [3] A.C.o. America, U.S. Military Builds on Rich History of Amputee Care, <a href="http://www.amputee-coalition.org/military-instep/rich-history.html">http://www.amputee-coalition.org/military-instep/rich-history.html</a>, (accessed 20.06.2017.).
- [4] H. Rogers, A Brief History of Plastic, The Brooklyn Rail, 2005.
- [5] J.P. Murmann, Chemical Industries after 1850, Oxford Encyclopedia of Economic History, 2002.
- [6] M. Bellis, The History of Plastics, <a href="http://www.thebuttonmonger.com/content/The\_History\_of\_Plastics.pdf">http://www.thebuttonmonger.com/content/The\_History\_of\_Plastics.pdf</a>, (accessed 23.05.2017.).
- [7] PVC, History, <http://www.pvc.org/en/p/history>, (accessed 28.10.2017.).
- [8] P.R. Association, About PET, <a href="http://www.petresin.org/aboutpet.asp">http://www.petresin.org/aboutpet.asp</a>, 2015 (accessed 28.10.2017.).
- [9] E.D.a.P.P. Association, History, <http://polyurethanes.org/en/what-is-it/ history>, 2017 (accessed 28.10.2017).
- [10] National Research Council (U.S.). Committee on Polymer Science and Engineering., Polymer science and engineering : the shifting research frontiers, National Academy Press, Washington, D.C., 1994.
- [11] R.J. Olson, N. Mamalis, L. Werner, D.J. Apple, Cataract treatment in the beginning of the 21st century, Am. J. Ophthalmol. 136 (1) (2003) 146–154.
- [12] C.M. Pratt, S. Barton, E. McGonigle, M. Kishi, P.J.S. Foot, The effect of ionising radiation on poly(methyl methacrylate) used in intraocular lenses, Polym. Degrad. Stab. 91 (10) (2006) 2315–2317.
- [13] W.J. Kolff, The artificial kidney and its effect on the development of other artifical organs, Nat. Med. 8 (2002) 1063–1065.
- [14] B.H. Scribner, Medical dilemmas: the old is new, Nat. Med. 8 (2002) 1066– 1067.
- [15] J.B. Lockridge, S. Chandran, The Scribner shunt: 50 years later, Kidney Int. 81 (1) (2012) 120.
- [16] H. Bloom, "Cellophane" dressing for second-degree burns, The Lancet 246 (6375) (1945) 559.
- [17] A.S. Hoffman, The origins and evolution of "controlled" drug delivery systems, J. Control. Release 132 (3) (2008) 153–163.
- [18] J. Folkman, D.M. Long Jr., R. Rosenbaum, Silicone rubber: a new diffusion property useful for general anesthesia, Science 154 (3745) (1966) 148–149.
- [19] R. Langer, J. Folkman, Polymers for the sustained release of proteins and other macromolecules, Nature 263 (5580) (1976) 797–800.
- [20] A.D. Baldwin, K.L. Kiick, Polysaccharide-modified synthetic polymeric biomaterials, Biopolymers 94 (1) (2010) 128–140.
- [21] J.T. Oliveira, R.L. Reis, Polysaccharide-based materials for cartilage tissue engineering applications, J. Tissue Eng. Regen. Med. 5 (6) (2011) 421–436.
- [22] U.S.F.D. Administration, Significant Dates in U.S. Food and Drug Law History. <a href="https://www.fda.gov/aboutfda/whatwedo/history/milestones/ucm128305">https://www.fda.gov/aboutfda/whatwedo/history/milestones/ucm128305</a>. htm>, (accessed 1.07.2017).
- [23] H. Gupta, M. Aqil, Contact lenses in ocular therapeutics, Drug Discov. Today 17 (9–10) (2012) 522–527.
- [24] S. Khan, W. Jehangir, Evolution of artificial hearts: an overview and history, Cardiol. Res. 5 (5) (2014) 121–125.
- [25] A.M. Matthews, The development of the Starr-Edwards heart valve, Tex Heart Inst. J. 25 (4) (1998) 282–293.
- [26] M. Thiery, Pioneers of the intrauterine device, Eur. J. Contracept. Reprod. Health Care 2 (1) (1997) 15–23.
- [27] T. Zgonis, Surgical Reconstruction of the Diabetic Foot and Ankle, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2012.

- [28] J.C. Wright, D.J. Burgess, Long Acting Injections and Implants, Springer, New York, 2012.
- [29] K. Hayashida, K. Kanda, H. Yaku, J. Ando, Y. Nakayama, Development of an in vivo tissue-engineered, autologous heart valve (the biovalve): preparation of a prototype model, J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 134 (1) (2007) 152–159.
- [30] J.G. Rheinwald, H. Green, Serial cultivation of strains of human epidermal keratinocytes: the formation of keratinizing colonies from single cells, Cell 6 (3) (1975) 331–343.
- [31] M. Gilbert, Brydson's Plastics Materials, Elsevier, Boston, MA, 2016.
- [32] H.I. Chang, M.K. Yeh, Clinical development of liposome-based drugs: formulation, characterization, and therapeutic efficacy, Int. J. Nanomed. 7 (2012) 49–60.
- [33] R.S. French, F.M. Cowan, D. Mansour, J.P. Higgins, A. Robinson, T. Procter, S. Morris, J. Guillebaud, Levonorgestrel-releasing (20 microgram/day) intrauterine systems (Mirena) compared with other methods of reversible contraceptives, BJOG 107 (10) (2000) 1218–1225.
- [34] T.O.M.D. Titia, M.T. Mulders, Use of the novel combined contraceptive vaginal ring nuvaring for ovulation inhibition, Fertility and Sterility 75 (5) (2001) 865–870.
- [35] M. Graham, FDA Approves Bausch & Lomb's Patented Retisert Orphan Drug, Business Wire, 2005.
- [36] F. Campitiello, A. Della Corte, R. Guerniero, G. Pellino, S. Canonico, Efficacy of a new flowable wound matrix in tunneled and cavity ulcers: a preliminary report, Wounds 27 (6) (2015) 152–157.
- [37] A. Sciences, Iluvien (fluocinolone acetonide intravitreal implant) 0.19mg for Diabetic Macular Edema (DME) <a href="http://www.alimerasciences.com/products/">http://www.alimerasciences.com/products/</a> iluvien-for-diabetic-macular-edema-dme/>, 2017 (accessed 6.04.2017).
- [38] Vericel, EPICEL, <a href="http://epicel.com/">http://epicel.com/</a>, 2017 (accessed 24.03.2017).
  [39] Z. Brennan, FDA approves first PFO Occluder from St. Jude, 2016.
- [40] Vericel, MACI. <a href="http://www.maci.com/healthcare-professionals/about-the-procedure/the-maci-procedure.html">http://www.maci.com/healthcare-professionals/about-the-procedure/the-maci-procedure.html</a>, 2017 (accessed 21.05.2017).
- [41] R.L. Vangilder, C.L. Rosen, T.L. Barr, J.D. Huber, Targeting the neurovascular unit for treatment of neurological disorders, Pharmacol. Ther. 130 (3) (2011) 239–247.
- [42] S.R.P. DCCPS, Surveillance Systems Branch, Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) ProgramSEER 18 Incidence and Mortality, 2000-2013, with Kaposi Sarcoma and Mesothelioma, National Cancer Institute, September 2015.
- [43] A. Misra, S. Ganesh, A. Shahiwala, S.P. Shah, Drug delivery to the central nervous system: a review, J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. 6 (2) (2003) 252–273.
- [44] M. Salvalaio, L. Rigon, D. Belletti, F. D'Avanzo, F. Pederzoli, B. Ruozi, O. Marin, M.A. Vandelli, F. Forni, M. Scarpa, R. Tomanin, G. Tosi, Targeted polymeric nanoparticles for brain delivery of high molecular weight molecules in lysosomal storage disorders, PLoS One 11 (5) (2016) e0156452.
- [45] K.L. Eskow Jaunarajs, D.G. Standaert, T.X. Viegas, M.D. Bentley, Z. Fang, B. Dizman, K. Yoon, R. Weimer, P. Ravenscroft, T.H. Johnston, M.P. Hill, J.M. Brotchie, R.W. Moreadith, Rotigotine polyoxazoline conjugate SER-214 provides robust and sustained antiparkinsonian benefit, Mov. Disord. 28 (12) (2013) 1675–1682.
- [46] L. Crawford, J. Rosch, D. Putnam, Concepts, technologies, and practices for drug delivery past the blood-brain barrier to the central nervous system, J. Control. Release 240 (2016) 251–266.
- [47] L. Huang, J. Hu, S. Huang, B. Wang, F. Siaw-Debrah, M. Nyanzu, Y. Zhang, Q. Zhuge, Nanomaterial applications for neurological diseases and central nervous system injury, Prog. Neurobiol. 157 (2017) 29–48.
- [48] G. Tosi, T. Musumeci, B. Ruozi, C. Carbone, D. Belletti, R. Pignatello, M.A. Vandelli, G. Puglisi, The "fate" of polymeric and lipid nanoparticles for brain delivery and targeting: Strategies and mechanism of blood-brain barrier crossing and trafficking into the central nervous system, J. Drug Deliv. Sci. Technol. 32 (2016) 66–76.
- [49] T. Govender, Y.E. Choonara, P. Kumar, D. Bijukumar, L.C. du Toit, G. Modi, D. Naidoo, V. Pillay, Implantable and transdermal polymeric drug delivery technologies for the treatment of central nervous system disorders, Pharm. Dev. Technol. 22 (4) (2017) 476–486.
- [50] Implant wafer approved for brain cancer treatment MIT News 1996 MIT MIT News.
- [51] M. Westphal, D.C. Hilt, E. Bortey, P. Delavault, R. Olivares, P.C. Warnke, I.R. Whittle, J. Jaaskelainen, Z. Ram, A phase 3 trial of local chemotherapy with biodegradable carmustine (BCNU) wafers (Gliadel wafers) in patients with primary malignant glioma, Neuro. Oncol. 5 (2) (2003) 79–88.
- [52] Nobelpharma and Eisai announce Japan Launch of Antineoplastic Agent Gliadel 7.7 mg Implant. <a href="http://www.eisai.com/news/enews201304pdf.pdf">http://www.eisai.com/news/enews201304pdf.pdf</a>, 2013 (accessed 7.06.2017).
- [53] R. Surgical, C-Plus PEEK VBR/IBF System. <a href="http://www.trimedicaltd.co.uk/sysimgdocs/docs/MKT-188-D-C-Plus-ST-26SE11\_po7\_2.pdf">http://www.trimedicaltd.co.uk/sysimgdocs/docs/MKT-188-D-C-Plus-ST-26SE11\_po7\_2.pdf</a>>, 2017 (accessed 1.06.2017).
- [54] A. Lee, R. Langer, Shark cartilage contains inhibitors of tumor angiogenesis, Science 221 (4616) (1983) 1185–1187.
- [55] S. Kurtz, PEEK performance: a next-generation biomaterial, Medical Device Network medicaldevice-network.com, 2011.
- [56] T.B. Johannes Guenther, Janet Blumel, Characterization of PEEK Polymers (polyaryletheretherketone) by Solid-State NMR Spectroscopy.
- [57] M. Lishner, R.G. Perrin, R. Feld, H.A. Messner, P.G. Tuffnell, T. Elhakim, A. Matlow, J.E. Curtis, Complications associated with Ommaya reservoirs in

patients with cancer The Princess Margaret Hospital experience and a review of the literature, Arch. Intern. Med. 150 (1) (1990) 173-176.

- [58] I.L. Corporation, Integra CSF Reservoir with Integral Connectors. < http:// www.cardion.cz/file/1117/csf-catalogue-en.pdf>, 2004 (accessed 26.05.2017).
- [59] D.o.H.a.H. Services, Central Nervous System Fluid Shunt and Components Indications for Use. 2016 (accessed 26.05.2017).
- [60] L. Kleinberg, Polifeprosan 20, 3.85% carmustine slow release wafer in malignant glioma: patient selection and perspectives on a low-burden therapy, Patient Prefer Adherence, 2016, pp. 2397-2406.
- [61] R. Medical, Integra Reservoirs. <http://www.rycolmedical.ie/integrareservoirs/>, 2017 (accessed 31.07.2017).
- [62] K. Shao, J. Wu, Z. Chen, S. Huang, J. Li, L. Ye, J. Lou, L. Zhu, C. Jiang, A brainvectored angiopep-2 based polymeric micelles for the treatment of intracranial fungal infection, Biomaterials 33 (28) (2012) 6898-6907.
- [63] I. Therapeutics, Neuro-Spinal Scaffold, <http://www.invivotherapeutics.com/ research-clinical-development/pipeline/neuro-spinal-scaffold/>, 2017 (accessed 2.04.2017).
- [64] İ. Bioengineered Neural Trails. Therapeutics, <http://www. invivotherapeutics.com/research-clinical-development/pipeline/ bioengineered-neural-trails/>, (accessed 28.07.2017).
- [65] N.S.C.I.S. Center, Facts and Figures at a Glance, Board of Trustess, University of Alabama, National Spinal Cord Injury Statistical Center website, 2014.
- [66] A.W. Lloyd, R.G. Faragher, S.P. Denyer, Ocular biomaterials and implants, Biomaterials 22 (8) (2001) 769-785.
- [67] N. Gooch, S.A. Molokhia, R. Condie, R.M. Burr, B. Archer, B.K. Ambati, B. Wirostko, Ocular drug delivery for glaucoma management, Pharmaceutics 4 1) (2012) 197-211.
- [68] J.B. Christoforidis, S. Chang, A. Jiang, J. Wang, C.M. Cebulla, Intravitreal devices for the treatment of vitreous inflammation, Mediators Inflamm. 2012 (2012) 126463.
- [69] J. Zhang, N. Zhou, B. Zhang, J. Ma, Effect of biodegradable scleral plugs containing curcumin on proliferative vitreoretinopathy, Ophthalmic Res. (2017).
- [70] H. Kaji, N. Nagai, M. Nishizawa, T. Abe, Drug delivery devices for retinal diseases, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. (2017).
- [71] D. Silva, L.F.V. Pinto, D. Bozukova, L.F. Santos, A.P. Serro, B. Saramago, Chitosan/alginate based multilayers to control drug release from ophthalmic lens, Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces 147 (2016) 81-89.
- [72] J. Jalvandi, M. White, Y. Gao, Y.B. Truong, R. Padhye, I.L. Kyratzis, Polyvinyl alcohol composite nanofibres containing conjugated levofloxacin-chitosan for controlled drug release, Mater. Sci. Eng. C Mater. Biol. Appl. 73 (2017) 440-446
- [73] M. Guter, M. Breunig, Hyaluronan as a promising excipient for ocular drug delivery, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 113 (2017) 34–49.
- [74] M. Moreno, P.Y. Pow, T.S.T. Tabitha, S. Nirmal, A. Larsson, K. Radhakrishnan, J. Nirmal, S.T. Quah, S. Geifman Shochat, R. Agrawal, S. Venkatraman, Modulating release of ranibizumab and aflibercept from thiolated chitosanbased hydrogels for potential treatment of ocular neovascularization, Expert. Opin. Drug. Deliv. 14 (8) (2017) 913-925.
- [75] D. Iohara, M. Okubo, M. Anraku, S. Uramatsu, T. Shimamoto, K. Uekama, F. Hirayama, Hydrophobically modified polymer/alpha-cyclodextrin thermoresponsive hydrogels for use in ocular drug delivery, Mol. modified polymer/alpha-cyclodextrin Pharmaceut. 14 (8) (2017) 2740-2748.
- [76] Y. Weng, J. Liu, S. Jin, W. Guo, X. Liang, Z. Hu, Nanotechnology-based strategies for treatment of ocular disease, Acta Pharm. Sin. B 7 (3) (2017) 281-291.
- [77] D. Lee, Q. Lu, S.D. Sommerfeld, A. Chan, N.G. Menon, T.A. Schmidt, J.H. Elisseeff, A. Singh, Targeted delivery of hyaluronic acid to the ocular surface by a polymer-peptide conjugate system for dry eye disease. Acta Biomater, 55 (2017) 163 - 171.
- [78] S.S. Lee, P. Hughes, A.D. Ross, M.R. Robinson, Biodegradable implants for sustained drug release in the eye, Pharm. Res. 27 (10) (2010) 2043-2053.
- [79] B.V.S. Dina, A. Mohammad, susan G. Elner, Retisert: is the new advance in treatment of Uveitis a good one?, Ann Pharmacother, 41 (3) (2007)
- [80] B. Lomb, Retisert Highlights of Prescribing Information, <http://www. states/usfiles/package bausch.com/portals/107/-/m/bl/united inserts/ pharma/retisert-prescribing-information.pdf>, 2012 (accessed 6.04.2017).
- [81] C.L. Stevenson, J.T. Santini Jr., R. Langer, Reservoir-based drug delivery systems utilizing microtechnology, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 64 (14) (2012) 1590-1602.
- [82] D.J. Lee, Intraocular implants for the treatment of autoimmune uveitis, J. Funct. Biomater. 6 (3) (2015) 650-666.
- [83] J. Luchs, Azithromycin in durasite for the treatment of blepharitis, Clin. Ophthalmol, 4 (2010) 681–688.
- [84] I. Bausch & Lomb, Product Information, <http://www.retisert.com/Product-Information>, (accessed 31.07.2017).
- bettersight, Fluocinolone (Iluvien) Implant for Macular oedema, <http:// [85] www.bettersight.co.uk/specialisms/diabetic-eye-disease/new-treatmentoptions/>, (accessed 30.06.2017).
- [86] I.V. Incorporated, DuraSite Mechanism of Action. <http://www. insitevision.com/durasite\_moa.html>, 2016 (accessed 31.07.2017).
- [87] W.H. Organization, Prevention of Blindness and Visual Impairment. < http:// www.who.int/blindness/publications/globaldata/en/>, 2017 (accessed 12.06.2017).
- [88] i. Med, Technology. <https://iveenamed.com/technology>, 2017 (accessed 29.07.2017).

- [89] S.R. Chennamaneni, C. Mamalis, B. Archer, Z. Oakey, B.K. Ambati, Development of a novel bioerodible dexamethasone implant for uveitis and postoperative cataract inflammation, J. Control. Release 167 (1) (2013) 53-59.
- [90] S. Veleri, C.H. Lazar, B. Chang, P.A. Sieving, E. Banin, A. Swaroop, Biology and therapy of inherited retinal degenerative disease: insights from mouse models, Dis. Model Mech. 8 (2) (2015) 109-129.
- [91] NeuroTech, ECT Platform. <a href="http://www.neurotechusa.com/platform-">http://www.neurotechusa.com/platform-</a> pipeline.html>, 2016 (accessed 7.04.2017).
- [92] K. Kauper, C. McGovern, S. Sherman, P. Heatherton, R. Rapoza, P. Stabila, B. Dean, A. Lee, S. Borges, B. Bouchard, W. Tao, Two-year intraocular delivery of ciliary neurotrophic factor by encapsulated cell technology implants in patients with chronic retinal degenerative diseases, Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 53 (12) (2012) 7484-7491.
- [93] A.F. Peery, S.D. Crockett, A.S. Barritt, E.S. Dellon, S. Eluri, L.M. Gangarosa, E.T. Jensen, J.L. Lund, S. Pasricha, T. Runge, M. Schmidt, N.J. Shaheen, R.S. Sandler, Burden of gastrointestinal, liver, and pancreatic diseases in the United States, Gastroenterology 149 (7) (2015) 1731-1741. e3.
- [94] W.G. Organization, Map of Digestive Disorders, April 2008, World Gastroenterology Organization website, 2008.
- M.J. Dar, H. Ali, A. Khan, G.M. Khan, Polymer-based drug delivery: the quest [95] for local targeting of inflamed intestinal mucosa, J. Drug Target 25 (7) (2017) 582-596
- [96] S. Choudhary, A. Jain, M.C.I.M. Amin, V. Mishra, G.P. Agrawal, P. Kesharwani, Stomach specific polymeric low density microballoons as a vector for extended delivery of rabeprazole and amoxicillin for treatment of peptic ulcer, Colloid. Surf. B 141 (2016) 268–277.
- [97] M. Karavolos, A. Holban, Nanosized drug delivery systems in gastrointestinal targeting: interactions with microbiota, Pharmaceuticals 9 (4) (2016).
- P. Gao, G.X. Xia, Z.X. Bao, C. Feng, X.J. Cheng, M. Kong, Y. Liu, X.G. Chen, Chitosan based nanoparticles as protein carriers for efficient oral antigen delivery, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 91 (2016) 716-723.
- [99] J.D. Schulz, M. Patt, S. Basler, H. Kries, D. Hilvert, M.A. Gauthier, J.C. Leroux, Site-specific polymer conjugation stabilizes therapeutic enzymes in the gastrointestinal tract, Adv. Mater. 28 (7) (2016) 1455–1460.
- [100] U. Fda FDA Approves New Drug to Treat Hyperkalemia 2015 FDA News Release US FDA, FDA website.
- [101] L.M. Einhorn, M. Zhan, V.D. Hsu, L.D. Walker, M.F. Moen, S.L. Seliger, M.R. Weir, J.C. Fink, The frequency of hyperkalemia and its significance in chronic kidney disease, Arch. Intern. Med. 169 (12) (2009) 1156-1162.
- [102] S.K. Krishnan, N.E. Lepor, Acute and chronic cardiovascular effects of hyperkalemia: new insights into prevention and clinical management, Rev. Cardiovasc. Med. 17 (Suppl 1) (2016) S9-S21.
- [103] Relypsa, Highlights of Prescribing Information for VELTASSA, <https://www. veltassa.com/pi.pdf>, 2015 (accessed 15.06.2017).
- [104] O.P. Tenielle Watkins, Jennifer Andres, Veltassa; Worth the 50-year wait?, New and Press: Student Submissions, Pennsylvania Society of Health-System
- Pharmacists Pennsylvania Society of Health-System Pharmacists 2016. [105] A.M. Crasto, Patiromer, World Drug Tracker, 2016.
- [106] J. Gong, M.W. Chen, Y. Zheng, S.P. Wang, Y.T. Wang, Polymeric micelles drug delivery system in oncology, J. Control. Release 159 (3) (2012) 312-323.
- [107] Lyndra, Technology, <a href="https://www.lyndra.com/about">https://www.lyndra.com/about</a>>, 2017 (accessed 24.03.2017).
- [108] A.M. Bellinger, M. Jafari, T.M. Grant, S. Zhang, H.C. Slater, E.A. Wenger, S. Mo, Y.L. Lee, H. Mazdiyasni, L. Kogan, R. Barman, C. Cleveland, L. Booth, T. Bensel, D. Minahan, H.M. Hurowitz, T. Tai, J. Daily, B. Nikolic, L. Wood, P.A. Eckhoff, R. Langer, G. Traverso, Oral, ultra-long-lasting drug delivery: application toward malaria elimination goals, Sci. Transl. Med. 8 (365) (2016). 365ra157.
- [109] A. Trafton, New capsule achieves long-term drug delivery MIT News, MIT, 2016.
- [110] A. Melero, C. Draheim, S. Hansen, E. Giner, J.J. Carreras, R. Talens-Visconti, T. M. Garrigues, J.E. Peris, M.C. Recio, R. Giner, C.M. Lehr, Targeted delivery of Cyclosporine A by polymeric nanocarriers improves the therapy of inflammatory bowel disease in a relevant mouse model, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm, 119 (2017) 361–371.
- [111] C.f.D.C.a. Prevention, Epidemiology of the IBD, <https://www.cdc.gov/ibd/ ibd-epidemiology.htm>, 2015 (accessed 23.10.2017). [112] W. Zhang, L. Xing, H. Wang, X. Liu, Y. Feng, C. Gao, Preparation of novel
- porphyrin nanomaterials based on the pH-responsive shape evolution of porphyrin microspheres, Langmuir 31 (14) (2015) 4330-4340.
- [113] S. Chaurasia, P. Chaubey, R.R. Patel, N. Kumar, B. Mishra, Curcumin-polymeric nanoparticles against colon-26 tumor-bearing mice: cytotoxicity, pharmacokinetic and anticancer efficacy studies, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 42 5) (2016) 694-700.
- [114] K. Maiti, K. Mukherjee, A. Gantait, B.P. Saha, P.K. Mukherjee, Curcuminphospholipid complex: preparation, therapeutic evaluation and pharmacokinetic study in rats, Int. J. Pharm. 330 (1–2) (2007) 155–163.
- [115] E.L. Chaikof, The development of prosthetic heart valves-lessons in form and function, N. Engl. J. Med. 357 (14) (2007) 1368-1371.
- [116] V.L. Gott, D.E. Alejo, D.E. Cameron, Mechanical heart valves: 50 years of evolution, Ann. Thorac. Surg. 76 (6) (2003) S2230-S2239.
- [117] C.D. Daly, G.R. Campbell, P.J. Walker, J.H. Campbell, In vivo engineering of blood vessels, Front. Biosci. 9 (2004) 1915-1924.
- [118] H. Ghanbari, H. Viatge, A.G. Kidane, G. Burriesci, M. Tavakoli, A.M. Seifalian, Polymeric heart valves: new materials, emerging hopes, Trends Biotechnol. 27 (6) (2009) 359-367.

- [119] S.L. Gallocher, A.F. Aguirre, V. Kasvanov, L. Pinchuk, R.T. Schoephoerster, A. novel polymer for potential use in a trileaflet heart valve, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. B 79b (2) (2006) 325-334.
- [120] J. Choi, B.S. Lee, K. Park, D.K. Han, K.D. Park, Y.H. Kim, Beneficial effect of sulfonated PEO-grafted polyurethanes on calcification and lipid adsorption of vascular implants, Macromol. Res. 18 (11) (2010) 1133-1136.
- [121] W.H. Gong, D. Lei, S. Li, P. Huang, Q. Qi, Y.J. Sun, Y.J. Zhang, Z. Wang, Z.W. You, X.F. Ye, Q. Zhao, Hybrid small-diameter vascular grafts: Anti-expansion effect of electrospun poly epsilon-caprolactone on heparin-coated decellularized matrices, Biomaterials 76 (2016) 359-370.
- [122] M.A. Hiob, G.W. Crouch, A.S. Weiss, Elastomers in vascular tissue engineering, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 40 (2016) 149-154.
- [123] K. Madhavan, M.G. Frid, K. Hunter, R. Shandas, K.R. Stenmark, D. Park, Development of an electrospun biomimetic polyurea scaffold suitable for vascular grafting, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. B Appl. Biomater. (2017).
- [124] A.J. Melchiorri, N. Hibino, C.A. Best, T. Yi, Y.U. Lee, C.A. Kraynak, L.K. Kimerer, A. Krieger, P. Kim, C.K. Breuer, J.P. Fisher, 3D-Printed Biodegradable Polymeric Vascular Grafts, Adv. Healthc. Mater. 5 (3) (2016) 319-325
- [125] A.H. Association, Patent Foramen Ovale (PFO), American Heart Association 2017.
- [126] J. Tobis, The case for closing PFOs, Catheter. Cardiovasc. Interv. 55 (2) (2002) 195-196
- [127] S.J. Medical, AMPLATZER PFO Occluder Instructions for Use, Food and Drug Administration.
- [128] U. FDA, FDA Executive Summary for the AMPLATZER PFO Occluder, in: U. FDA (Ed.) 2016, pp. 1-78.
- [129] B. Ingelheim, Catapres-TTS. <a href="http://docs.boehringer-ingelheim.com/">http://docs.boehringer-ingelheim.com/</a> Prescribing Information/PIs/Catapres TTS/CatapresTTS.pdf>, 2016 (accessed 1.04.2017).
- [130] D.T. Lowenthal, K.M. Matzek, T.R. MacGregor, Clinical pharmacokinetics of clonidine, Clin. Pharmacokinet. 14 (5) (1988) 287-310.
- [131] V.N. Sateesh Kandavilli, Ramesh Panchagnula, Polymers in transermal drug delivery systems, Pharma. Technol. (2002).
- [132] J.C.B.a.R.G.L.v. Tol, Catapres transdermal therapeutic system (TTS) for longterm treatment of hypertension, low dose oral and transdermal therapy of hypertension (1985) 106-110.
- [133] B. Scientific, TAXUS Express Paclitacel-Eluting Coronary Stent System, Boston Scientific, 2010, p. 20.
- [134] S. Wood, FDA approves Taxus paclitaxel-eluting stent, MedScape, 2004.
- [135] E. Olson, Boston Scientific Receives Industry's First FDA approval for drugeluting coronary stent use in heart attack patients, Boston Scientific, 2012.
- [136] W.H. Organization Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) Fact Sheet 2017 World Health Organization World Health Organization.
- [137] C.f.D.C.a. Prevention, Heart Disease Facts, Heart Disease, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2015.
- [138] S.M. Medical, Expanding Endovascular Treatment Options. < https://www. shapemem.com/>, 2017 (accessed 24.04.2017).
- [139] R. Garcia, Texas A&M-led research aimed at treating brain aneurysms receives \$2.5 million NIH grant, Texas A&M University Engineering, 2015.
- [140] B.L. Sanchez-Gaytan, F. Fay, M.E. Lobatto, J. Tang, M. Ouimet, Y. Kim, S.E. van der Staay, S.M. van Rijs, B. Priem, L. Zhang, E.A. Fisher, K.J. Moore, R. Langer, Z.A. Fayad, W.J. Mulder, HDL-mimetic PLGA nanoparticle to target atherosclerosis plaque macrophages, Bioconjug. Chem. 26 (3) (2015) 443-451.
- [141] V.R. Driver, The Little-Known, Silent Epidemic of Non-Healing Wounds, Future of Health Care News, Future of Health Care News,
- [142] T.E. Serena, A global perspective on wound care, Adv. Wound Care (New Rochelle) 3 (8) (2014) 548–552.
- [143] R.G. Sibbald, J.A. Elliott, E.A. Ayello, R. Somayaji, Optimizing the moisture management tightrope with wound bed preparation 2015©. Adv. Skin Wound Care 28 (10) (2015) 477-478.
- [144] M.E. Barbour, S.E. Maddocks, H.J. Grady, J.A. Roper, M.D. Bass, A.M. Collins, R. M. Dommett, M. Saunders, Chlorhexidine hexametaphosphate as a wound care material coating: antimicrobial efficacy, toxicity and effect on healing, Nanomedicine 11 (16) (2016) 2049-2057.
- [145] E. Mele, Electrospinning of natural polymers for advanced wound care: towards responsive and adaptive dressings, J. Mater. Chem. B 4 (28) (2016) 4801-4812
- [146] M. Contardi, J.A. Heredia-Guerrero, G. Perotto, P. Valentini, P.P. Pompa, R. Spano, L. Goldoni, R. Bertorelli, A. Athanassiou, I.S. Bayer, Transparent ciprofloxacin-povidone antibiotic films and nanofiber mats as potential skin and wound care dressings, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 104 (2017) 133-144.
- [147] E.A. Kamoun, E.S. Kenawy, X. Chen, A review on polymeric hydrogel membranes for wound dressing applications: PVA-based hydrogel dressings, J. Adv. Res. 8 (3) (2017) 217–233.
- [148] P. Pankongadisak, U.R. Ruktanonchai, P. Supaphol, O. Suwantong, Gelatin scaffolds functionalized by silver nanoparticle-containing calcium alginate beads for wound care applications, Polym. Advan. Technol. 28 (7) (2017) 849-858
- [149] C. Dhand, M. Venkatesh, V.A. Barathi, S. Harini, S. Bairagi, E.G.T. Leng, N. Muruganandham, K.Z.W. Low, M.H.U.T. Fazil, X.J. Loh, D.K. Srinivasan, S.P. Liu, R.W. Beuerman, N.K. Verma, S. Ramakrishna, R. Lakshminarayanan, Bioinspired crosslinking and matrix-drug interactions for advanced wound dressings with long-term antimicrobial activity, Biomaterials 138 (2017) 153-168
- [150] H.P. Felgueiras, M.T.P. Amorim, Functionalization of electrospun polymeric wound dressings with antimicrobial peptides, Colloid Surf. B 156 (2017) 133-148.

- [151] M. Berthet, Y. Gauthier, C. Lacroix, B. Verrier, C. Monge, Nanoparticle-based dressing: the future of wound treatment?, Trends Biotechnol 35 (8) (2017) 770-784
- [152] INTEGRA, Soft Tissue Solutions. < http://integralife.com/index.aspx/Extremity-Reconstruction/eCatalogs/Jarit-Sterilization/index.aspx?redir=detailproduct &Product=531&ProductName=Integra%AE Flowable Wound Matrix&Product LineName=Soft+Tissue+Solutions&ProductLineID=78&PA=Soft Tissue>, 2017 (accessed 31.03.2017.).
- [153] C. Hirche, A. Senghaas, S. Fischer, S.T. Hollenbeck, T. Kremer, U. Kneser, Novel use of a flowable collagen-glycosaminoglycan matrix (Integra Flowable Wound Matrix) combined with percutaneous cannula scar tissue release in treatment of post-burn malfunction of the hand – A preliminary 6 month follow-up, Burns 42 (1) (2016) e1-e7.
- [154] Organogensis, Apligraf. <http://www.apligraf.com/professional/ what\_is\_apligraf/index.html>, 2017 (accessed 29.07.2017).
- [155] V. Falanga, M. Sabolinski, A bilayered living skin construct (APLIGRAF) accelerates complete closure of hard-to-heal venous ulcers, Wound Repair Regen 7 (4) (1999) 201-207.
- [156] K.S. Vyas, H.C. Vasconez, Wound healing: biologics, skin substitutes, biomembranes and scaffolds, Healthcare (Basel) 2 (3) (2014) 356-400.
- [157] I.L. Corporation, Integra Flowable Wound Matrix, <https://www. integralife.com/products%2Fpdfs%2Fflowable\_wound\_matrix\_sell\_sheet. pdf>, 2017 (accessed 30.03.2017).
- [158] W. Chen, R.M. Langer, S. Janczewska, L. Furian, R. Geary, X. Qu, M. Wang, R. Verani, T. Condon, K. Stecker, C.F. Bennett, S.M. Stepkowski, Methoxyethylintercellular adhesion molecule-1 antisense modified phosphorothiateoligonucleotides inhibit allograft rejection, ischemic-reperfusion injury, and cyclosporine-induced nephrotoxicity, Transplantation 79 (4) (2005) 401-408.
- [159] R.R. Henry, J. Rosenstock, D. Logan, T. Alessi, K. Luskey, M.A. Baron, Continuous subcutaneous delivery of exenatide via ITCA 650 leads to sustained glycemic control and weight loss for 48 weeks in metformintreated subjects with type 2 diabetes, J. Diabetes Complications 28 (3) (2014) 393-398.
- [160] R.R. Henry D. Logan T. Alessi M.A. Baron A randomized, open-label, multicenter, 4-week study to evaluate the tolerability and pharmacokinetics of ITCA 650 in patients with type 2 diabetes Clin Ther 35 5 2013 634 645 e1.
- [161] I. Microchips Biotech, Microchips Biotech, 2017 (accessed 05.02.2017).
- [162] A.C. Richards Grayson, I.S. Choi, B.M. Tyler, P.P. Wang, H. Brem, M.J. Cima, R. Langer, Multi-pulse drug delivery from a resorbable polymeric microchip device, Nat. Mater. 2 (11) (2003) 767-772.
- [163] R. Farra, N.F. Sheppard Jr., L. McCabe, R.M. Neer, J.M. Anderson, J.T. Santini Jr., M.J. Cima, R. Langer, First-in-human testing of a wirelessly controlled drug delivery microchip, Sci. Transl. Med. 4 (122) (2012). 122ra21. [164] F. Cunha, The Ebers papyrus, Am. J. Surg. 77 (1) (1949) 134–136.
- [165] J.M. Stevens, Gynaecology from ancient Egypt: The papyrus Kahun: a translation of the oldest treatise on gynaecology that has survived from the ancient world, Med. J. Aust. 2 (25–26) (1975) 949–952.
- [166] D.R. Mishell Jr., M. Talas, A.F. Parlow, D.L. Moyer, Contraception by means of a silastic vaginal ring impregnated with medroxyprogesterone acetate, Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 107 (1) (1970) 100-107.
- [167] G. Benagiano, H. Gabelnick, M. Farris, Contraceptive devices: intravaginal and intrauterine delivery systems, Expert. Rev. Med. Devices 5 (5) (2008) 639-654
- [168] H.S. Johal, T. Garg, G. Rath, A.K. Goyal, Advanced topical drug delivery system for the management of vaginal candidiasis, Drug. Deliv. 23 (2) (2016) 550-563.
- [169] N. Mennini, G. Casella, M. Cirri, F. Maestrelli, P. Mura, Development of cyclodextrin hydrogels for vaginal delivery of dehydroepiandrosterone, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 68 (6) (2016) 762-771.
- [170] S. Gupta, V. Prabha, Intravaginal delivery approaches for contraception: an overview with emphasis on gels, J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. 20 (2017) 270–284.
- [171] K.K. Arien, F. Baleux, D. Desjardins, F. Porrot, Y.M. Coic, J. Michiels, K. Bouchemal, D. Bonnaffe, T. Bruel, O. Schwartz, R. Le Grand, G. Vanham, N. Dereuddre-Bosquet, H. Lortat-Jacob, CD4-mimetic sulfopeptide conjugates display sub-nanomolar anti-HIV-1 activity and protect macaques against a SHIV162P3 vaginal challenge, Sci. Rep. 6 (2016) 34829.
- [172] C.A. Gafitanu D. Filip C. Cernatescu D. Rusu C.G. Tuchilus D. Macocinschi M.F. Zaltariov Design Preparation and evaluation of HPMC-based PAA or SA freeze-dried scaffolds for vaginal delivery of fluconazole Pharm. Res. 2017.
- [173] D.R. Friend, Drug delivery for the treatment of endometriosis and uterine fibroids, Drug Deliv. Transl. Res. 7 (6) (2017) 829-839.
- [174] P. Srinivasan, J. Zhang, A. Martin, K. Kelley, J.M. McNicholl, R.W. Buckheit Jr., J. M. Smith, A.S. Ham, Safety and pharmacokinetics of quick-dissolving polymeric vaginal films delivering the antiretroviral IQP-0528 for preexposure prophylaxis, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 60 (7) (2016) 4140-4150
- [175] L.W. Kleiner, J.C. Wright, Y. Wang, Evolution of implantable and insertable drug delivery systems, J. Control. Release 181 (2014) 1-10.
- [176] S. Rose, A. Chaudhari, C.M. Peterson, Mirena (Levonorgestrel intrauterine system): a successful novel drug delivery option in contraception, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 61 (10) (2009) 808-812.
- [177] I. Bayeer HealthCare Pharmaceuticals, Mirena, Bayeer HealthCare Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 2008.
- [178] D. Wildemeersch, D. Janssens, M. Vrijens, S. Weyers, Ease of insertion, contraceptive efficacy and safety of new T-shaped levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine systems, Contraception 71 (6) (2005) 465-469.

- [179] W.H. Organization, The TCu380A intrauterine Contraceptive Device (IUD): Specification, Prequalification, and Guidelines for Procurement, World Health Organization, UNFPA, UNAIDS, and FHI, Switzerland, Geneva, 2010.
- [180] K.M. Curtis, J.F. Peipert, Long-acting reversible contraception, N. Engl. J. Med. 376 (5) (2017) 461–468.
- [181] I. Merck & Co., Highlights of Prescribing Information, <http://www. merck.com/product/usa/pi\_circulars/n/nuvaring/nuvaring\_pi.pdf >, 2016 (accessed 23.0.3.2017).
- [182] A. Nel, S. Smythe, K. Young, K. Malcolm, C. McCoy, Z. Rosenberg, J. Romano, Safety and pharmacokinetics of dapivirine delivery from matrix and reservoir intravaginal rings to HIV-negative women, J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. 51 (4) (2009) 416–423.
- [183] C.J.T.a.T.M.T. Mulders, Pharmacokinetics of Etonogestrel and ethinylestradiol released from a combined contraceptive vaginal ring, Clin. Pharm. 2000.
- [184] J. Salter, \$100 million NuvaRing settlement finalized, The San Diego Union-Tribune, The San Diego Union-Tribune, 2014.
- [185] I. Merck & Co., Merck Stands Behind the Safety Profile of NuvaRing, Merck & Co website, 2014.
- [186] I. Bayeer HealthCare Pharmaceuticals, Mirena Up Close, <https://www. mirena-us.com/mirena-up-close/>, 2017 (accessed 31.07.2017).
- [187] T.P. Industries, Paragard Patient Brochure, paragard.com, Teva Pharmaceutical Industries.
- [188] V.V. Khutoryanskiy, Mucoadhesive materials and drug delivery systems, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Chichester, West Sussex, 2014, pp. xvi, 332 pages, 8 unnumbered pages of plates.
- [189] W.H. Organization, HIV/AIDS Data and Statistics. <a href="http://www.who.int/hiv/data/en/">http://www.who.int/hiv/data/en/</a>, 2017 (accessed 22.06.2017).
- [190] R.K. Malcolm, P.J. Boyd, C.F. McCoy, D.J. Murphy, Microbicide vaginal rings: Technological challenges and clinical development, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 103 (2016) 33–56.
- [191] I.P.f. Microbicides, A Long-Acting Ring to Protect Women Against HIV, International Partnership for Microbicides, 2017.
- [192] A. Nel, N. van Niekerk, S. Kapiga, L.G. Bekker, C. Gama, K. Gill, A. Kamali, P. Kotze, C. Louw, Z. Mabude, N. Miti, S. Kusemererwa, H. Tempelman, H. Carstens, B. Devlin, M. Isaacs, M. Malherbe, W. Mans, J. Nuttall, M. Russell, S. Ntshele, M. Smit, L. Solai, P. Spence, J. Steytler, K. Windle, M. Borremans, S. Resseler, J. Van Roey, W. Parys, T. Vangeneugden, B. Van Baelen, Z. Rosenberg, T. Ring, Study safety and efficacy of a dapivirine vaginal ring for HIV prevention in women, N. Engl. J. Med. 375 (22) (2016) 2133–2143.
- [193] I.P.f. Microbicides, Dapivirine-Contraceptive Ring. <a href="https://www.ipmglobal.org/our-work/our-products/dapivirine-contraceptive-ring">https://www.ipmglobal.org/our-work/our-products/dapivirine-contraceptive-ring</a>, 2017 (accessed 22.06.2017).
- [194] E.E. Freeman, H.A. Weiss, J.R. Glynn, P.L. Cross, J.A. Whitworth, R.J. Hayes, Herpes simplex virus 2 infection increases HIV acquisition in men and women: systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies, AIDS 20 (1) (2006) 73–83.
- [195] J.A. Moss, A.M. Malone, T.J. Smith, S. Kennedy, E. Kopin, C. Nguyen, J. Gilman, I. Butkyavichene, K.L. Vincent, M. Motamedi, D.R. Friend, M.R. Clark, M.M. Baum, Simultaneous delivery of tenofovir and acyclovir via an intravaginal ring, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 56 (2) (2012) 875–882.
- [196] J.L. Ong, T. Guda, Translating Biomaterials for Bone Graft : Bench-Top to Clinical Applications, Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, 2017.
- [197] C. Laurencin, Y. Khan, S.F. El-Amin, Bone graft substitutes, Expert. Rev. Med. Devices 3 (1) (2006) 49–57.
- [198] V. Zijah, R. Salehi, M. Aghazadeh, M. Samiei, E. Alizadeh, S. Davaran, Towards optimization of odonto/osteogenic bioengineering: in vitro comparison of simvastatin, sodium fluoride, melanocyte-stimulating hormone, Vitro Cell Dev. Biol. Anim. 53 (6) (2017) 502–512.
- [199] H.E. Jazayeri, M.D. Fahmy, M. Razavi, B.E. Stein, A. Nowman, R.M. Masri, L. Tayebi, Dental applications of natural-origin polymers in hard and soft tissue engineering, J. Prosthodont. 25 (6) (2016) 510–517.
- [200] E. Kijenska, S. Zhang, M.P. Prabhakaran, S. Ramakrishna, W. Swieszkowski, Nanoengineered biocomposite tricomponent polymer based matrices for bone tissue engineering, Int. J. Polym. Mater. Po. 65 (16) (2016) 807–815.
   [201] J.G. Hardy, J.G. Torres-Rendon, A. Leal-Egana, A. Walther, H. Schlaad, H.
- [201] J.G. Hardy, J.G. Torres-Rendon, A. Leal-Egana, A. Walther, H. Schlaad, H. Colfen, T.R. Scheibel, Biomineralization of engineered spider silk protein-based composite materials for bone tissue engineering, Materials 9 (7) (2016).
- [202] K.J. Dé France, K.G. Yager, K.J.W. Chan, B. Corbett, E.D. Cranston, T. Hoare, Injectable anisotropic nanocomposite hydrogels direct in situ growth and alignment of myotubes, Nano Lett. 17 (10) (2017) 6487–6495.
- [203] A. Schunck, A. Kronz, C. Fischer, G.H. Buchhorn, Release of zirconia nanoparticles at the metal stem-bone cement interface in implant loosening of total hip replacements, Acta Biomaterialia 31 (2016) 412–424.
- [204] Y.H. Hsu, C.C. Hu, P.H. Hsieh, H.N. Shih, S.W.N. Ueng, Y.H. Chang, Vancomycin and ceftazidime in bone cement as a potentially effective treatment for knee periprosthetic joint infection, J. Bone Joint Surg. Am. 99 (3) (2017).
- [205] A. Roy, S. Jhunjhunwala, E. Bayer, M. Fedorchak, S.R. Little, P.N. Kumta, Porous calcium phosphate-poly (lactic-co-glycolic) acid composite bone cement: a viable tunable drug delivery system, Mater. Sci. Eng. C Mater. Biol. Appl. 59 (2016) 92–101.
- [206] N. Shankhwar, M. Kumar, B.B. Mandal, A. Srinivasan, Novel polyvinyl alcoholbioglass 45S5 based composite nanofibrous membranes as bone scaffolds, Mater. Sci. Eng. C Mater. Biol. Appl. 69 (2016) 1167–1174.
- [207] E. Sharifi, M. Azami, A.M. Kajbafzadeh, F. Moztarzadeh, R. Faridi-Majidi, A. Shamousi, R. Karimi, J. Ai, Preparation of a biomimetic composite scaffold

from gelatin/collagen and bioactive glass fibers for bone tissue engineering, Mater. Sci. Eng. C Mater. Biol. Appl. 59 (2016) 533–541.

- [208] B.M. Baker, N.L. Nerurkar, J.A. Burdick, D.M. Elliott, R.L. Mauck, Fabrication and modeling of dynamic multipolymer nanofibrous scaffolds, J. Biomech. Eng. 131 (10) (2009) 101012.
- [209] P. Khoshakhlagh, S.M. Rabiee, G. Kiaee, P. Heidari, A.K. Miri, R. Moradi, F. Moztarzadeh, R. Ravarian, Development and characterization of a bioglass/chitosan composite as an injectable bone substitute, Carbohydr. Polym. 157 (2017) 1261–1271.
- [210] Cerapedics, i-FACTOR: Mechanism of Action <a href="http://cerapedics.com/i-factor/mechanism-of-action/">http://cerapedics.com/i-factor/mechanism-of-action/</a>, 2017 (accessed 18.05.2017).
- [211] P.M. Arnold, R.C. Sasso, M.E. Janssen, M.G. Fehlings, J.D. Smucker, A.R. Vaccaro, R.F. Heary, A.I. Patel, B. Goulet, I.H. Kalfas, B. Kopjar, Efficacy of i-factor bone graft versus autograft in anterior cervical discectomy and fusion: results of the prospective, randomized, single-blinded food and drug administration investigational device exemption study, Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 41 (13) (2016) 1075–1083.
- [212] e.a. Carroll, Characteristics of Orthopaedic Composed Used in Vertebral Augmentation, Transactions of the 32nd Annual Meeting of the society for Biomaterials (2006).
- [213] R.E. Jacobson, M. Granville, J. Hatgis, A. Berti, Low volume vertebral augmentation with cortoss(R) cement for treatment of high degree vertebral compression fractures and Vertebra Plana, Cureus 9 (2) (2017) e1058.
- [214] H. Bae, H.P. Hatten Jr., R. Linovitz, A.D. Tahernia, M.K. Schaufele, V. McCollom, L. Gilula, P. Maurer, R. Benyamin, J.M. Mathis, M. Persenaire, A prospective randomized FDA-IDE trial comparing Cortoss with PMMA for vertebroplasty: a comparative effectiveness research study with 24-month follow-up, Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 37 (7) (2012) 544–550.
- [215] A.M. Ambrosio, J.S. Sahota, Y. Khan, C.T. Laurencin, A novel amorphous calcium phosphate polymer ceramic for bone repair: I Synthesis and characterization, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 58 (3) (2001) 295–301.
- [216] I. Orthovita, Orthovita Receives FDA Clearance for CORTOSS Bone Augmentation Material in Treatment of Vertebral Compression Fractures, Business Wire, Business Wire, 2009.
- [217] D. Saris, A. Price, W. Widuchowski, M. Bertrand-Marchand, J. Caron, J.O. Drogset, P. Emans, A. Podskubka, A. Tsuchida, S. Kili, D. Levine, M. Brittberg, S. s. group, Matrix-applied characterized autologous cultured chondrocytes versus microfracture: two-year follow-up of a prospective randomized trial, Am. J. Sports Med. 42 (6) (2014) 1384–1394.
- [218] Z. Zhang, X. Zhong, H. Ji, Z. Tang, J. Bai, M. Yao, J. Hou, M. Zheng, D.J. Wood, J. Sun, S.F. Zhou, A. Liu, Matrix-induced autologous chondrocyte implantation for the treatment of chondral defects of the knees in Chinese patients, Drug Des. Dev. Ther. 8 (2014) 2439–2448.
- [219] Stryker, Stryker Cortoss Bone Augmentation Material. <a href="http://www.stryker.com/en-us/products/Spine/InterventionalSpine/">http://www.stryker.com/en-us/products/Spine/InterventionalSpine/</a> VertebralAugmentation/CortossBoneAugmentationMaterial/index.htm>, (accessed 31.07.2017).
- [220] K. Storheim, J.A. Zwart, Musculoskeletal disorders and the Global Burden of Disease study, Ann. Rheum. Dis. 73 (6) (2014) 949–950.
- [221] Y. Cong, C. Quan, M. Liu, J. Liu, G. Huang, G. Tong, Y. Yin, C. Zhang, Q. Jiang, Alendronate-decorated biodegradable polymeric micelles for potential bonetargeted delivery of vancomycin, J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 26 (11) (2015) 629–643.
- [222] I. Takeuchi, S. Kobayashi, Y. Hida, K. Makino, Estradiol-loaded PLGA nanoparticles for improving low bone mineral density of cancellous bone caused by osteoporosis: Application of enhanced charged nanoparticles with iontophoresis, Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces 155 (2017) 35–40.
- [223] V.J. Venditto, F.C. Szoka Jr., Cancer nanomedicines: so many papers and so few drugs!, Adv Drug Deliv. Rev. 65 (1) (2013) 80–88.
- [224] F. Masood, Polymeric nanoparticles for targeted drug delivery system for cancer therapy, Mater. Sci. Eng. C Mater. Biol. Appl. 60 (2016) 569–578.
- [225] C. von Roemeling, W. Jiang, C.K. Chan, I.L. Weissman, B.Y. Kim, Breaking down the barriers to precision cancer nanomedicine, Trends Biotechnol. 35 (2) (2017) 159–171.
- [226] S.S. Katiyar, E. Muntimadugu, T.A. Rafeeqi, A.J. Domb, W. Khan, Co-delivery of rapamycin- and piperine-loaded polymeric nanoparticles for breast cancer treatment, Drug Deliv. 23 (7) (2016) 2608–2616.
- [227] M. Luo, H. Wang, Z. Wang, H. Cai, Z. Lu, Y. Li, M. Du, G. Huang, C. Wang, X. Chen, M.R. Porembka, J. Lea, A.E. Frankel, Y.X. Fu, Z.J. Chen, J. Gao, A STING-activating nanovaccine for cancer immunotherapy, Nat. Nanotechnol. 12 (7) (2017) 648–654.
- [228] M.S. Hudlikar, X. Li, I.A. Gagarinov, N. Kolishetti, M.A. Wolfert, G.J. Boons, Controlled multi-functionalization facilitates targeted delivery of nanoparticles to cancer cells, Chemistry 22 (4) (2016) 1415–1423.
- [229] C. He, P. Cai, J. Li, T. Zhang, L. Lin, A.Z. Abbasi, J.T. Henderson, A.M. Rauth, X.Y. Wu, Blood-brain barrier-penetrating amphiphilic polymer nanoparticles deliver docetaxel for the treatment of brain metastases of triple negative breast cancer, J. Control. Release 246 (2017) 98–109.
- [230] X. Zhu, J. Wu, W. Shan, W. Tao, L. Zhao, J.M. Lim, M. D'Ortenzio, R. Karnik, Y. Huang, J. Shi, O.C. Farokhzad, polymeric nanoparticles amenable to simultaneous installation of exterior targeting and interior therapeutic proteins, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 55 (10) (2016) 3309–3312.
- [231] Y. Xie, T. Murray-Stewart, Y. Wang, F. Yu, J. Li, LJ. Marton, R.A. Casero Jr., D. Oupicky, Self-immolative nanoparticles for simultaneous delivery of microRNA and targeting of polyamine metabolism in combination cancer therapy, J. Control. Release 246 (2017) 110–119.

- [232] W.H. Lee, C.Y. Loo, C.R. Leong, P.M. Young, D. Traini, R. Rohanizadeh, The achievement of ligand-functionalized organic/polymeric nanoparticles for treating multidrug resistant cancer, Expert. Opin. Drug Deliv. 14 (8) (2017) 937–957.
- [233] A. Pramanik, D. Laha, S.K. Dash, S. Chattopadhyay, S. Roy, D.K. Das, P. Pramanik, P. Karmakar, An in-vivo study for targeted delivery of copper-organic complex to breast cancer using chitosan polymer nanoparticles, Mater. Sci. Eng. C Mater. Biol. Appl. 68 (2016) 327–337.
- [234] T. Kang, F. Li, S. Baik, W. Shao, D. Ling, T. Hyeon, Surface design of magnetic nanoparticles for stimuli-responsive cancer imaging and therapy, Biomaterials 136 (2017) 98–114.
- [235] F. Li, T. Li, W. Cao, L. Wang, H. Xu, Near-infrared light stimuli-responsive synergistic therapy nanoplatforms based on the coordination of telluriumcontaining block polymer and cisplatin for cancer treatment, Biomaterials 133 (2017) 208–218.
- [236] A. Corporation, DOXIL Prescribing Information, <a href="https://www.doxil.com/shared/product/doxil/doxil-prescribing-information.pdf">https://www.doxil.com/shared/product/doxil/doxil-prescribing-information.pdf</a>>, (accessed 15.03.2017).
- [237] A.A. Gabizon, Stealth liposomes and tumor targeting: one step further in the quest for the magic bullet, Clin. Cancer Res. 7 (2) (2001) 223–225.
- [238] M.L. Immordino, F. Dosio, L. Cattel, Stealth liposomes: review of the basic science, rationale, and clinical applications, existing and potential, Int. J. Nanomed. 1 (3) (2006) 297–315.
- [239] Y. Malam, M. Loizidou, A.M. Seifalian, Liposomes and nanoparticles: nanosized vehicles for drug delivery in cancer, Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 30 (11) (2009) 592–599.
- [240] S. Jevsevar, M. Kunstelj, V.G. Porekar, PEGylation of therapeutic proteins, Biotechnol. J. 5 (1) (2010) 113–128.
- [241] C. Corporation, Prescribing Information for Abraxane, <a href="https://www.celgene.com/content/uploads/abraxane-pi.pdf">https://www.celgene.com/content/uploads/abraxane-pi.pdf</a>, 2015 (accessed 11.04.2017).
- [242] S.M. Nishit Doshi, Designer biomaterials for nanomedicine, Adv. Funct. Mater. 19 (24) (2009) 3843–3854.
- [243] A.C. Anselmo, S. Mitragotri, An overview of clinical and commercial impact of drug delivery systems, J. Control. Release 190 (2014) 15–28.
- [244] J. Bhattacharyya, J.J. Bellucci, I. Weitzhandler, J.R. McDaniel, I. Spasojevic, X. Li, C.C. Lin, J.T. Chi, A. Chilkoti, A paclitaxel-loaded recombinant polypeptide nanoparticle outperforms Abraxane in multiple murine cancer models, Nat. Commun. 6 (2015) 7939.
- [245] L. Janssen Products, Mechanism of Action, <https://www.doxil.com/hcp/ mechanism-of-action>, 2015 (accessed 31.07.2017).
- [246] Celgene, How does Abraxane for Advanced Pancreatic Cancer Work, <a href="http://www.abraxane.com/mpac/abraxane-and-advanced-pancreatic-cancer/">http://www.abraxane.com/mpac/abraxane-and-advanced-pancreatic-cancer/</a>, 2015 (accessed 31.07.2017).
- [247] I. Nanospectra Biosciences, AuroShell. <a href="http://nanospectra.com/">http://nanospectra.com/</a>, 2017 (accessed 1.04.2017).
- [248] N. Staff, Targeted Photoimmunotherapy Approach for Cancer Moves Forward. <https://www.cancer.gov/news-events/cancer-currents-blog/2016/photoimmunotherapy-cancer>, 2016 (accessed 30.06.2017).

- [249] S.C. Gad, K.L. Sharp, C. Montgomery, J.D. Payne, G.P. Goodrich, Evaluation of the toxicity of intravenous delivery of auroshell particles (gold-silica nanoshells), Int. J. Toxicol. 31 (6) (2012) 584–594.
- [250] T. Cantu, K. Walsh, V.P. Pattani, A.J. Moy, J.W. Tunnell, J.A. Irvin, T. Betancourt, Conductive polymer-based nanoparticles for laser-mediated photothermal ablation of cancer: synthesis, characterization, and in vitro evaluation, Int. J. Nanomed. 12 (2017) 615–632.
- [251] H.R. Jia, Y.W. Jiang, Y.X. Zhu, Y.H. Li, H.Y. Wang, X. Han, Z.W. Yu, N. Gu, P. Liu, Z. Chen, F.G. Wu, Plasma membrane activatable polymeric nanotheranostics with self-enhanced light-triggered photosensitizer cellular influx for photodynamic cancer therapy, J. Control. Release 255 (2017) 231–241.
- [252] Y.W. Kim, S.M. Bae, G. Battogtokh, H.J. Bang, W.S. Ahn, Synergistic anti-tumor effects of combination of photodynamic therapy and arsenic compound in cervical cancer cells: in vivo and in vitro studies, PLoS One 7 (6) (2012) e38583.
- [253] A.J. Clark, D.T. Wiley, J.E. Zuckerman, P. Webster, J. Chao, J. Lin, Y. Yen, M.E. Davis, CRLX101 nanoparticles localize in human tumors and not in adjacent, nonneoplastic tissue after intravenous dosing, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 113 (14) (2016) 3850–3854.
- [254] S. Svenson, M. Wolfgang, J. Hwang, J. Ryan, S. Eliasof, Preclinical to clinical development of the novel camptothecin nanopharmaceutical CRLX101, J. Control. Release 153 (1) (2011) 49–55.
- [255] C. Pharma, Cerulean Announces Results from Phase 2 Clinical Trial of CRLX101 and Avastin <sup>®</sup> Combination in Relapsed Renal Cell Carcinoma, Dare Bioscience, darebioscience.com, 2016.
- [256] NIH, Trial of CRLX101, a Nanoparticle Camptothecin With Olaparib in People With Relapsed/Refractory Small Cell Lung Cancer, <a href="https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02769962">https://clinicaltrials.gov/ ct2/show/NCT02769962</a>, 2017 (accessed 25.10.2017).
- [257] D.D. Von Hoff, M.M. Mita, R.K. Ramanathan, G.J. Weiss, A.C. Mita, P.M. LoRusso, H.A. Burris 3rd, L.L. Hart, S.C. Low, D.M. Parsons, S.E. Zale, J.M. Summa, H. Youssoufian, J.C. Sachdev, Phase I study of PSMA-targeted docetaxel-containing nanoparticle BIND-014 in patients with advanced solid tumors, Clin. Cancer Res. 22 (13) (2016) 3157–3163.
- [258] J. Hrkach, D. Von Hoff, M. Mukkaram Ali, E. Andrianova, J. Auer, T. Campbell, D. De Witt, M. Figa, M. Figueiredo, A. Horhota, S. Low, K. McDonnell, E. Peeke, B. Retnarajan, A. Sabnis, E. Schnipper, J.J. Song, Y.H. Song, J. Summa, D. Tompsett, G. Troiano, T. Van Geen Hoven, J. Wright, P. LoRusso, P.W. Kantoff, N.H. Bander, C. Sweeney, O.C. Farokhzad, R. Langer, S. Zale, Preclinical development and clinical translation of a PSMA-targeted docetaxel nanoparticle with a differentiated pharmacological profile, Sci. Transl. Med. 4(128) (2012) 128ra39.
- [259] V. Sanna, N. Pala, M. Sechi, Targeted therapy using nanotechnology: focus on cancer, Int. J. Nanomed. 9 (2014) 467–483.
- [260] W.H. Organization, The top 10 causes of death, <http://www.who. int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs310/en/>, 2017 (accessed 30.06.2017).